
  

 

 

 

 
 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

Tuesday 2 April 2019 at 6.30 pm 
Committee Room A, Town Hall, Royal Tunbridge Wells, TN1 1RS 

 
 

 

Borough Council Representatives:  Councillors Scott (Chairman), Barrington-King 
(Vice-Chairman), Hamilton, Lewis-Grey, Neve, 
Nuttall and Ms Palmer 

Independent Members:  Mr Quigley and Shiels 

Parish/Town Council Representatives: Councillors Coleman and Henshaw 

Quorum: 3 Members, to include at least one independent member 

 
 

1   Apologies for Absence   
Apologies for absence as reported at the meeting. 

2   Declarations of Interest   
To receive any declarations of interest by Members in items on the agenda. 
 
For any advice on declarations of interest, please contact the Monitoring Officer. 

3   Notification of Visiting Members wishing to speak (in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rule 18):   
Members should indicate which item(s) they wish to speak on and the nature of their 
concern/question/request for clarification. 

4   Minutes of the meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee dated 27 November 
2018  (Pages 5 - 8) 

5   Strategic Risk Review  (Pages 9 - 26) 

6   Update on Complaints Received under the Members' Code of Conduct  (Pages 27 - 30) 

7   Review of the Constitution April 2019*  (Pages 31 - 46) 

8   Internal Audit & Assurance Plan 2019/20  (Pages 47 - 74) 

9   External Audit Plan  (Pages 75 - 96) 

10   Future Work Programme  (Pages 97 - 98) 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 
 
 

 

11   Urgent Business   

12   Date of Next Meeting -  22 May 2019, following Annual Council   

 

 
 
Cheryl Clark Town Hall 
Democratic Services Officer ROYAL TUNBRIDGE WELLS 
cheryl.clark@tunbridgewells.gov.uk Kent   TN1 1RS 
 Tel:  (01892) 554413 
 

 

mod.gov app – go paperless 
 

Easily download, annotate and keep all committee paperwork on your 

mobile device using the mod.gov app – all for free! 
 

Visit   www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp   for details.  

Page 2

http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp
http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp
http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp


 
 
 

 

All visitors wishing to attend a public meeting at the Town Hall between the hours of 9.00am 
and 5.00pm should report to reception via the side entrance in Monson Way.  After 5pm, 
access will be via the front door on the corner of Crescent Road and Mount Pleasant Road, 
except for disabled access which will continue by use of an 'out of hours' button at the entrance 
in Monson Way. 
 
Notes on Procedure 
 
(1) A list of background papers appears at the end of each report, where appropriate, 

pursuant to the Local Government Act 1972, section 100D(i). 
 

(2) Items marked * will be the subject of recommendation to full Council. 
 
(3) Members seeking factual information about agenda items are requested to contact the 

appropriate Service Manager prior to the meeting. 
 
(4) Members of the public and other stakeholders are required to register with the Democratic 

Services Officer if they wish to speak on an agenda item at a meeting.  Places are limited 
to a maximum of four speakers per item.  The deadline for registering to speak is 4.00 pm 
the last working day before the meeting.  Each speaker will be given a maximum of 3 
minutes to address the Committee. 

 
(5) All meetings are open to the public except where confidential or exempt information is 

being discussed. The agenda will identify whether a meeting or part of a meeting is not 
open to the public. Meeting rooms have a maximum public capacity as follows: 
Council Chamber: 100, Committee Room A: 20, Committee Room B: 10. 

 
(6) Please note that the public proceedings of this meeting will be recorded and made 

available for playback on the Tunbridge Wells Borough Council website. Any other third 
party may also record or film meetings, unless exempt or confidential information is being 
considered, but are requested as a courtesy to others to give notice of this to the 
Democratic Services Officer before the meeting. The Council is not liable for any third 
party recordings. 

 
Further details are available on the website (www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk) or from 
Democratic Services. 

 

If you require this information in another format 
please contact us, call 01892 526121 or email 

committee@tunbridgewells.gov.uk 
 

Accessibility into and within the Town Hall – There is a wheelchair accessible lift 
by the main staircase, giving access to the first floor where the committee rooms are 
situated. There are a few steps leading to the Council Chamber itself but there is a 
platform chairlift in the foyer. 
 

Hearing Loop System – The Council Chamber and Committee Rooms A and B 
have been equipped with hearing induction loop systems. The Council Chamber also 
has a fully equipped audio-visual system. 

 

Page 3

http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/
mailto:committee@tunbridgewells.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 
 

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

Tuesday, 27 November 2018 
 

Present: Councillor Scott (Chairman) 
Councillors Barrington-King (Vice-Chairman), Hamilton, Neve, Nuttall, Ms Palmer, 

Independent Member Mr Quigley, 
 and Parish/Town Councillors Coleman and Henshaw 

 
Officers in Attendance: Cheryl Clark (Democratic Services Officer), Rich Clarke (Head of 
Audit Partnership), Lee Colyer (Director of Finance, Policy and Development (Section 151 
Officer)), Keith Trowell (Team Leader - Corporate Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer)) 
and David Candlin (Head of Economic Development and Property) 
 
Other Members in Attendance: None 
 
Other Persons in Attendance: Elizabeth Jackson (Grant Thornton)   
 
CHAIRMAN'S INTRODUCTION 
 
AG31/18 
 

The Chairman opened the meeting, introduced Committee members and 
officers in attendance, and outlined procedural matters of the meeting. 
 

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
AG32/18 
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Bulman and from 
Independent Member Mr Shiels. 
 

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
AG33/18 
 

No declarations of interest were received. 
 

NOTIFICATION OF VISITING MEMBERS WISHING TO SPEAK (IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 18): 
 
AG34/18 
 

No notifications had been received of any visiting members wishing to speak. 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE DATED 
11 SEPTEMBER 2018 
 
AG35/18 
 

The minutes of the meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee dated 11 
September 2018 were submitted. 
 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the Audit and Governance Committee 
dated 11 September 2018 be approved as a correct record. 
 

STRATEGIC RISK REVIEW 
 
AG36/18 
 

Mr Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development, presented this 
report, which set out a number of strategic risks that had been identified by 
the Council.  He also introduced Mr Candlin who had been invited to attend 
the meeting to update members in respect of risk nos. 2, 9 and 10.  
Committee members took the opportunity to ask Mr Candlin questions and a 
number of matters were raised and discussed included the following: 
 
That the level of the risks concerned had remained fairly static and were likely 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



2 

 
 

to continue to do so until individual developments and underlying stages 
within projects were delivered. Mr Candlin indicated these included a number 
of significant community projects in Cranbrook, Paddock Wood and 
Southborough. 
 
Concerns were expressed about the financial and operational position of 
RVP, in view of the closure of many of the shops and businesses and in the 
light of the lengthy delays experienced in the redevelopment of other sites 
such as the former ‘cinema’ site.  Mr Colyer confirmed that the Council, as the 
freeholder, continued to liaise closely with the new owners of RVP and he 
reassured members, indicating British Land’s considerable expertise in the 
sector and the need for them to fully assess the site before putting forward 
their development plans.  He indicated that they had a proven track record in 
actively managing and expanding this type of facility to provide extended 
opening hours and other leisure facilities in addition to the standard retail 
provision. 
 
Mr Colyer also reminded members that, as reported at the last meeting of this 
committee, the Council continued to meet with the developers of the former 
‘cinema site’ and the Council expected announcements to be made regarding 
progress by the middle of 2019. 
 
In respect of the Calverley Square project, questions and concerns were 
raised about continued public misunderstandings over the scheme and its 
funding.  Members wondered how communication to the public might be 
improved.  Mr Colyer reiterated explanations that had been given at Full 
Council in December 2017 over the project funding.  Reference was also 
made to a new website (www.calverleysquare.co.uk) which was to provide a 
specific source of public information on the project and would allow sign up to 
a regular newsletter. 
 
Mr Colyer also reminded members that the fees and charges for 2019/2020 
were a completely separate matter and these were set by Cabinet at the 
recent meeting on 22 November. 
 
The new waste contract was again unrelated and provided a comprehensive 
package incorporating both cost savings and the public desire for greater 
recycling and kerbside collection of glass. 
 
Committee members asked a number of further questions about costs to date 
relating to the Calverley Square Project.  Whilst members indicated their 
comprehension of the differences between the Council’s revenue and capital 
budgets and understood the wider economic benefits of development for the 
future, they still felt that there was a significant element of public 
miscomprehension to be overcome.   

 
RESOLVED – That the risk management report and arrangements for 
managing strategic risk be noted. 
 

UPDATE ON COMPLAINTS RECEIVED UNDER THE MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT 
 
AG37/18 
 

Mr Trowell, Team Leader (Corporate Governance) and Deputy Monitoring 
Officer presented this report, which updated members on complaints received 
under the Members’ Code of Conduct.  There had been only one matter 
outstanding from the previous meeting on 11 September.  This matter had 

Page 6

Agenda Item 4

http://www.calverleysquare.co.uk/


3 

 
 

now been concluded with the Monitoring Officer and there had been no 
breach of the Code of Conduct due to the lack of evidence provided.  There 
were no other outstanding complaints as at the date of the meeting. 
 
RESOLVED – That the update on complaints received under the Members’ 
Code of Conduct be noted. 
 

UPDATE ON MINOR CHANGES MADE TO THE CONSTITUTION UNDER THE 
DELEGATED AUTHORITY OF THE MONITORING OFFICER 
 
AG38/18 
 

Mr Trowell, Team Leader (Corporate Governance) and Deputy Monitoring 
Officer, presented this report, which summarised the minor changes to the 
Council’s Constitution that had been effected under the Monitoring Officer’s 
delegated authority in the period December 2013 to November 2018. 
 
RESOLVED – That the minor changes to the Council’s Constitution under the 
Monitoring Officer’s delegated authority be noted. 
 

INTERIM AUDIT AND ASSURANCE REPORT 
 
AG39/18 
 

Mr Clarke, Head of Audit Partnership, presented this report, which updated 
members on progress made towards completing the 2018/19 Internal Audit & 
Assurance Plan.  The report also provided update information needed by 
Audit Standards including an assessment of available audit time, results of 
audit work and commentary on performance of the audit service. 
 
Mr Clarke confirmed that results so far in 2018/19 had indicated positive 
assurance ratings and that there were no matters of concern to bring to 
members’ attention.  Mention was also made of the recently adopted Pentana 
Audit Software and it was clarified that red shading within the planned audit 
schedule did not indicate matters of concern but that the subject matter was 
not included in the current audit plan. 
 
RESOLVED – That the progress on the internal audit plan and findings be 
noted. 
 

EXTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 
 
AG40/18 
 

Mr Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development, presented this 
report, which provided the Committee with an update from the external 
auditors on progress in delivering their responsibilities.  Mr Colyer also 
introduced Elizabeth Jackson who was taking over from Darren Wells as the 
Engagement Lead from Grant Thornton.  Ade Oyerinde would continue to act 
as the Audit Manager. 
 
Ms Jackson confirmed there were no specific matters to report at this time in 
respect of the Council’s accounts but she responded to a query from the 
Committee regarding concerns in the media relating to anomalies arising from 
the recent  audit of Patisserie Valerie.  Whilst she was obviously unable to 
comment in this respect, she reassured members concerning the professional 
integrity and specialist expertise of Grant Thornton in auditing Public Sector 
accounts.   
 
RESOLVED – That the progress report be noted. 
 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



4 

 
 

 
FUTURE WORK PROGRAMME 
 
AG41/18 
 

The Committee’s work programme was presented for members’ information 
and the Chairman noted that at the next meeting responsible officers would 
attend to update on risks 3, 6 and 8.      
 
RESOLVED – That the work programme be noted. 
 

URGENT BUSINESS 
 
AG42/18 
 

RESOLVED – That there was no urgent business for consideration. 
 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 
AG43/18 
 

RESOLVED – That the next meeting of the Committee take place on 
Tuesday 2 April 2019. 
 

 
 NOTES: 

1. For full details of the proceedings, an audio recording of this meeting is 
available on the Tunbridge Wells Borough Council website. 

2. The meeting concluded at 7.50 pm. 
 

Page 8

Agenda Item 4



 

Audit & Governance 
Committee 

2 April 2019 

Is the final decision on the recommendations in this report to be made at this meeting? Yes 

 

Strategic Risk Review 
 

Final Decision-Maker Audit & Governance Committee 

Portfolio Holder(s)  All 

Lead Director  Lee Colyer – Director of Finance, Policy and 
Development  

Head of Service Rich Clarke – Head of Audit Partnership 

Lead Officer/Report Author Lee Colyer – Director of Finance, Policy and 
Development  

Classification Non-Exempt 

Wards affected All 

  

This report makes the following recommendations to the final decision-maker: 
 

1. That the Committee notes the risk management report and arrangements for 
managing strategic risk. 

 

  

This report relates to the following Five Year Plan Key Objectives: 

 A Prosperous Borough 

 A Green Borough 

 A Confident Borough 

 

This report is concerned with the internal control and governance of the Council.  Successful 
controls and effective governance are a crucial underpinning for all corporate priorities. 

  

Timetable  

Meeting Date 

Management Board 13 March 2019 

Audit and Governance Committee 2 April 2019 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



 

Strategic Risk Review 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The report sets out the strategic risks identified by the Council and currently 

being managed and tracked by senior management.  The report provides a 
current update on the evaluated threat level and controls in place for each risk 
issue. 

 

 
2. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The risks included in the report were initially developed in a risk management 

workshop facilitated by Zurich Insurance Limited on 10 December 2013, with 
the risks being formally adopted by Cabinet on 16 May 2014.  Since that time, 
risk owners have kept the risks and controls under review with periodic 
reporting both to the Cabinet and the Audit & Governance Committee.   

 
2.2 A strategic risk management workshop and health check has recently been 

undertaken by Zurich Insurance Limited. The outcome of this review is awaited 
and will be reported through the Council’s decision-making process. 
 

2.3 The Council’s Management Board periodically reviews the risks identified along 
with the risk owners.   

 

2.4 Risk owners (managers) for certain risks are invited to attend the Audit and 
Governance Committee meetings to outline the Council’s approach to 
managing their particular risk(s). For this Committee meeting, members will be 
able to examine the risk(s) owned by Paul Taylor, Director of Change and 
Communities, and Denise Haylett, Head of Facilities and Community Hubs with 
support from Chris Woodward, Head of Mid-Kent ICT Services, namely; 

 

 Risk 3: Resident Engagement; and 

 Risk 6: Service Interruption. 
 

 

 
3. AVAILABLE OPTIONS 
 
3.1 There is no legal requirement on the authority formally to monitor its risks, still 

less is there a defined framework to do so.  Although failing to monitor and 
record risks will leave the Council vulnerable to external criticism – for example 
by its external auditors who are required to assess the effectiveness of risk 
management when considering their annual Value For Money conclusion – the 
Council could decide that is a price worth paying against using some of its 
resources to identify and monitor risk. 

  

Page 10

Agenda Item 5



 

3.2 Even accepting the utility in gathering systematic monitoring information on the 
risks it faces, there is a wide range of different approaches the Council might 
adopt.  Even if one looks solely at the local government sector, there are myriad 
formats, structures and arrangements adopted to record and present 
information to senior officers and members. 

 

 
4. PREFERRED OPTION AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 The report sets out the risks using the methodology and format previously 

agreed by the Council, which is essentially the method advocated by Zurich 
from the 2013 risk workshop. 

 

 

5. CONSULTATION RESULTS AND PREVIOUS COMMITTEE FEEDBACK 
 
5.1 The Strategic Risk Register has undergone periodic review and examination by 

the Council’s Management Board, the Cabinet and the Audit & Governance 
Committee.  This stands in addition to ongoing monitoring by the identified risk 
owners.  This report incorporates feedback and updates from all sources. 

 

 
6. CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES AND IMPLICATIONS 
 

Issue Implications Sign-off 

(name of officer 
and date) 

Legal including 
Human Rights Act 

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 
require the Council to have a sound 
system of control which includes 
arrangements for the management of risk. 
This Report is part of those arrangements 
and is designed to ensure that the 
appropriate controls are effective. 
 

There are no immediate legal implications 
arising from this report. 

Lee Colyer, 
Director of 
Finance, Policy 
and Development 

15 March 2019 

 

Finance and other 
resources 

None identified at this stage. 

Staffing 
establishment 

None identified at this stage. 

Risk management   Risk management is the subject of the report but 
it does not of itself raise new risk issues for 
consideration. 

Data Protection None identified at this stage. 

Environment  
and sustainability 

None identified at this stage. 

Community safety None identified at this stage. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



 

Health and Safety None identified at this stage. 

Health and 
wellbeing 

None identified at this stage. 

Equalities None identified at this stage. 

 
 
7. REPORT APPENDICES 
 
The following document is to be published with this report and forms part of the 
report: 

 Appendix A: Strategic Risks March 2019 
 

 
8. BACKGROUND PAPERS  
 
None 

Page 12

Agenda Item 5



Strategic Risks March 2019 
 

The Strategic Risk Profile chart below shows each risk scored onto the risk matrix graph. The 
further towards the top right hand corner the greater the risk to the Council. The chart below 
provides only a snapshot on a particular date. 
 
The risk scenarios are: 
 

 CSR01: Cinema site remains undeveloped 

 CSR02: Unable to maximise economic opportunities and resolve infrastructure issues 

 CSR03: Resident engagement 

 CSR04: Unable to plan financially over the longer term 

 CSR05: National policy changes in short term impact negatively on TWBC 

 CSR06: Service interruption 

 CSR07: Unable to meet expectations within resources 

 CSR08: Inspector decision which challenges housing targets versus housing supply 

 CSR09: Development programme 

 CSR10: Calverley Square 
 

 
 
 
 

L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

6 

    

CSR 05 

  
  

Likelihood 

6 = Very High 
5 = High 
4 = Significant 
3 = Low 
2 = Very Low 
1 = Minimal 

5 

    

CSR 02 
CSR 07 
CSR 09 
CSR 10 

  
  

4 

  

  
CSR 06 
CSR 08 

  
  

Impact 

4 = Major 
3 = Severe 
2 = Medium 
1 = Negligible 

3 

  

  
CSR 01 
CSR 03 
CSR 04 

  
  

2 

        
   

1 

        
   

  

1 2 3 4 

   

  

Impact 

   

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Strategic Risk Profile March 2019 

Page 13

Appendix A



The table below tracks movement in the identified strategic risk areas since initial approval by Cabinet in April 2014.  
 

Risk 
 Ref 

Title June 2018 
September 

2018 
November 

2018 
March 2019 Trend 

CSR 01 Cinema site remains undeveloped. 
9 9 9 9 


(3 x Lk, 3 x Im) (3 x Lk, 3 x Im) (3 x Lk, 3 x Im) (3 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

CSR 02 
Unable to maximise economic opportunities 
and resolve infrastructure issues. 

15 15 15 15 


(5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

CSR 03 Resident engagement. 
9 9 9 9 


(3 x Lk, 3 x Im) (3 x Lk, 3 x Im) (3 x Lk, 3 x Im) (3 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

CSR 04 
Unable to plan financially over the longer 
term. 

12 12 9 9 


(4 x Lk, 3 x Im) (4 x Lk, 3 x Im) (3 x Lk, 3 x Im) (3 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

CSR 05 
National policy changes in short term impact 
negatively on TWBC and direction. 

18 18 18 18 


(6 x Lk, 3 x Im) (6 x Lk, 3 x Im) (6 x Lk, 3 x Im) (6 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

CSR 06 Service Interruption 
12 12 12 12 


(4 x Lk, 3 x Im) (4 x Lk, 3 x Im) (4 x Lk, 3 x Im) (4 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

CSR 07 
Unable to meet expectations within 
resources. 

15 15 15 15 


(5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

CSR 08 
Inspector decision which challenges housing 
targets vs housing supply. 

12 12 12 12 


(4 x Lk, 3 x Im) (4 x Lk, 3 x Im) (4 x Lk, 3 x Im) (4 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

CSR 09 Development programme. 
15 15 15 15 


(5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

CSR 10 Calverley Square. 
15 15 15 15 


(5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 14

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 1: Cinema site remains undeveloped 
 

 
Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact Low(3) / Severe(3) 

Cinema Site 

Member Risk 

Owner 

David Jukes Officer Risk Owner Stephen Baughen 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ 

Consequences 

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place 

 The Cinema site has a significant impact 
on the overall perception and reputation 
of Tunbridge Wells. Resolving the lack of 

progress on this site is not wholly within 
the Council’s control 

 

 Damage to reputation 

 Curtails attractiveness and 
discourages new investment in 

the town centre 

 

 

 Planning permission granted 2.2.18 for 

redevelopment of site with a Section 106 

agreement and planning conditions 

(including pre-commencement conditions). 

 Applicant progressing with Network Rail 

Asset Protection Agreement 

 Footpath diversion order and Walkway 

Agreement is now completed  

 Further ground investigations undertaken by 

applicant 

 Ongoing discussions with applicant – 

including provider of housing element  

 Until there is clear and publicly visible 

evidence of impending development (e.g. 

site works, submission of details to 

discharge planning conditions, etc) regular 

communication with the applicant will 

continue to be undertaken.   

 Given the last bullet point, the review of 

“likelihood” is continuously ongoing. 

  

P
age 15

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 2: Being unable to maximise economic opportunities and resolve infrastructure issues   

 
Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact Significant (4) / Severe (3) 

Economic development and 

infrastructure 

Member Risk 

Owner 

Tracy Moore /Alan 

McDermott 

Officer Risk Owner David Candlin 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ 

Consequences 

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place 

 There are economic opportunities, but other 
areas are also chasing these. 

 The local economic offer and reputation is 
strong and improving with latent demand, 
particularly in retail and ‘in town’ while the 
Council has developed wider Borough 
opportunities, e.g. North Farm. 

 Redevelopment of RVP to provide an 
improved offer. 

 There are issues around cost of housing and 
infrastructure, particularly traffic congestion 
which could affect ability to make the most of 
opportunities. 

 Referendum (‘Brexit’) decision to leave the 
European Union. The implications of this 
decision have the potential to have a 
significant impact on the local economy. 

 Lose out to other areas 

 Unable to secure sufficient 
opportunities 

 Local area and people lose out 

 Insufficient inward investment 

 Impact on economic vitality of area 

 Curtails attractiveness 

 Impact on revenue streams and 
income 

 Suffer in comparison to others 

 Damage to reputation 

 

 Secure KMEP and SELEP support for delivery of key 
infrastructure improvements 

 Maintain and develop working relationships with key 
partners, landowners & developers 

 Royal Tunbridge Wells Business Improvement District 
(BID) 

 Ensure Local Plan and Transport Strategy address 
economic & transport issues 

 Professional advice secured to establish viability of 
transport schemes 

 Monitor Brexit negotiations and terms impacting on the 
local economy and business sectors in the Borough 

 Lobby with partners and stakeholders (including 
SELEP) to minimise negative impact of Brexit terms 

 Development programme and support for community 
facilities in the rural towns 

  

P
age 16

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 3: Resident engagement 
 

Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact Low (3) / Severe (3) 

Local engagement 

Member Risk 

Owner 

Tracy Moore Officer Risk Owner Paul Taylor 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ 

Consequences 

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place 

 Royal Tunbridge Wells and the 
surrounding Borough are in the midst of 

some significant changes and challenges 
including a number of both Council-led 
and privately-led developments and a 

requirement to deliver increased 
numbers of homes. 

 There are some strongly-held views 
about a number of these proposed 

developments in the town and across 
the Borough and this is contributing to a 
significant number of challenges, 

allegations and rumours. 

 As a result of the significant financial 

pressures it is experiencing, the Council 
has discontinued a number of the 
mechanisms it has used to engage with 

residents including Ward Walks and 
annual residents’ surveys. 

 Direction and decisions out of 
line with public opinion 

 Impact on key areas, e.g. 
growth or economic 
development 

 Directing resources to wrong 
areas, potentially away from 

areas of most need 

 

 The Council has set up a number of 
forums/advisory groups representing parish 

councils, residents, retailers and businesses and 
consults with the Town Forum. 

 The Council has engaged comprehensively as 

part of the process of updating the Five Year 
Plan and will continue to engage on the various 

significant projects contained within it. 

 The Council consults on major strategies and 

policies. 

 The Council has procedures in place to capture 
and act on feedback and complaints received. 

 Local elections offer the opportunity for 
residents to elect their representatives and 

influence council decision-making.  

 The Council utilises a variety of formats of 
public engagement for major projects, including 

using local newspapers, the Borough-wide 
‘Local’ magazine, roadshows, exhibitions and 

briefings for businesses, residents, 
stakeholders, schools and community and 
interest groups. 

 A Communications and Marketing strategy has 

been created for the period 2018-22. 

P
age 17

A
ppendix A



 Work on a new Consultation and Engagement 

Strategy will review the Council’s approach to 
consultation and engagement and make 
changes where appropriate. 

P
age 18

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 4: Unable to plan financially over the longer term  

 
Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact Low (3) /Severe (3) 

Longer Term Financial Planning 

Member Risk 

Owner 

Cllr David Reilly Officer Risk Owner Lee Colyer 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ 

Consequences 

Current Controls/ Mitigations in 

place 

 Core Government funding has reduced significantly in 

favour of incentive based schemes reliant on growth. 

 The Government have offered a four year funding 
settlement from 2016/17 which would result in all 

Revenue Support Grant (£1.6 million) disappearing. The 
prospect of negative grant in 2019/20 has been 

abolished.  

 A government spending review (SR19) is underway.  

 The New Homes Bonus scheme has been significantly 

diluted with the first 150 homes not being eligible.  

 The Infrastructure Bill transferred the statutory 

responsibility for Land Charges to the Land Registry. This 
will substantially reduce the Council’s income and write-
off the investment in technology and performance in this 

area.  

 As part of the 2018/19 settlement the Secretary of State 

announced that business rates retention would move 
from 50 per cent to 75 per cent in 2020/21. The 
Government is still committed to delivering 100 per cent 

when Parliamentary time is available. 

 Reactive decision-making and 

budgeting rather than 
planning 

 Short term perspective 

reinforced 

 Central control of fees, 

burdens the Council Tax payer 
rather than the user of the 
service 

 Impact on decisions 

 Unpredictability and trust 

 Resources and staffing 
reduced or redeployed 

 Impact on staff retention 

 Impact on partnership 
working 

  

 Revenue budget balanced 

without the use of general 
reserves for 2019/20. 

 MTFS has manageable deficits. 

 ‘User Pays’ principle to recover 
costs where allowable. 

 The Council has accepted the 
four year funding offer. 

 A Fair Funding Review is 

underway which will inform the 
allocation of resources for each 

council by the Government from 
April 2020. 

 Government has provided more 

flexibility surrounding Council 
Tax income but this is less than 

for Parish Councils. 
 Proceeds of business rate growth 

are now being consistently 

received. 
 The Council is part of the Kent 

Business Rate Pool for 2019/20. 

P
age 19

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 5:  National policy changes in short term that impact negatively on TWBC 

 
Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact Very High (6) / Severe (3) 

Central government policy changes 

Member Risk 

Owner 

David Jukes Officer Risk Owner William Benson 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ 

Consequences 

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place 

 The past few years have been 

characterised by significant changes to 
the public sector environment and the 
regulations that govern it.  

 The general election in 2017 and the 
return of a minority government has 

placed further uncertainty over reforms 
to finance (including the proposed 
review of needs and Business Rates and 

negative RSG) and the government’s 
approach towards devolution. 

 On 23 June 2016, the United Kingdom 
of Great Britain and Northern Ireland 
voted to leave the European Union. 

Three years on, at the time of writing 
this report, the precise terms of the 

departure remain unclear. The 
continued uncertainty is having an 
impact on our ability to scenario-plan 

and preparations are impacting on 
capacity within the Council and, more 

significantly, within partner 
organisations. 

 Changes to external 

environment in which TWBC 
operates. 

 Unpredictability and frequent 

changes required to Council 
operations and policy/ funding 

assumptions. 

 Increased costs/reduced 
income. 

 Impact on the costs associated 
with or our ability to deliver 

key projects and services 
(particularly if tariffs are 
applied and transport 

infrastructure is affected by 
Brexit) 

 

 Flexibility encouraged amongst staff 

 Partnership working presents opportunities to 
collaborate on service delivery and address 
constraints on capacity 

 Engagement with the LGA, central government 
and other national, regional and local bodies 

 Working with others to seize opportunities as 
they arise (e.g. Business Rate pilot, funding 
opportunities) 

 Up to date business continuity plans and 
engagement with the Kent Resilience Forum. 

 
 

P
age 20

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 6:  Service interruption 

 
Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact High (4) / Severe (3) 

The ability to deliver services is 

disrupted 

Member Risk 

Owner 

David Jukes Officer Risk Owner  Denise Haylett 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ Consequences Current Controls/ Mitigations in place 

 Increased threat from cyber 

security attacks 

 Increased frequency of extreme 
weather   

 Increased threats from terrorism 

 Fire and other major events 

 

 Interruption to critical services 

 Staff being pulled in different 
directions 

 Claims/Legal action/Compensation 

 Adverse publicity  

 National and local reputation 

affected 

 Financial loss 

 Exposure to fraud, ransom and 

denial of service 

 The scale of the disaster could 

overwhelm the Council resulting in 
resignations, community discord and 
questions on whether the 

government should intervene on 
how the Council is run. 

 Business Continuity Plan 

 Major Emergency Plan 

 Resilience through partnership working 

 Part of the Multi-Agency Agreement 

 Member of the Kent Resilience Forum 

 Designation of a Senior Information Risk Officer 

 Public Service Network accreditation 

 Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards 
(PCI DSS) compliance 

 Support from the National Centre for Cyber 
Security (part of GCHQ) 

 Review of Emergency Planning arrangements 

 

P
age 21

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 7: Being unable to meet expectations within resources  

 
Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact High (5) / Severe (3) 

Reduced resources/increased demands 

and expectations 

Member Risk 

Owner 

David Jukes Officer Risk Owner   William Benson 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ 

Consequences 

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place 

 The Council has reduced staff numbers 

and resources but is more ambitious 
with more priorities and is seeking to do 
more than before.  

 The local community is vocal, 
demanding and articulate with 

significant expectations. 

 

 Increased stress and strain 

 Impact on morale 

 Reliance on key and fewer 
people 

 Services/staff are stretched 

 Impact on service quality 

 Satisfaction diminished 

 Campaigns launched by local 
community 

 Adverse publicity 

 Resources required to respond 

to campaigns 

 Damage to reputation 

 

 Reduced number of priorities in strategic plan 

 Regular consideration by Management Board of 
resources; additional resources put in place to 
support priorities (including additional resources to 

support the Council’s property section) 

 Introduction of a Programme Management Office 

to oversee priority projects 

 Appropriate use of external capacity and expertise 

 Performance monitoring helps to identify pressure 

points 

 Regular sickness monitoring 

 Quarterly analysis and reporting of complaints 
identifying any trends 

 Improving resilience through partnerships 

 Adopting an ‘enabling’ approach to encourage 
community to deliver local services 

 The use of external and peer reviews to provide 
assurance 

 

 

P
age 22

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 8:  Inspector decision which challenges housing target vs housing supply 
 

Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact   Significant (4) / Severe (3) 

Housing target/supply 

Member Risk 

Owner 

Alan McDermott Officer Risk Owner Stephen Baughen 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ Consequences Current Controls/ Mitigations in place 

 There has been a change in housing 
formula towards growth. There is 

resistance to housing growth locally with 
a difference between housing target and 
housing supply levels. 

 The statutory revision to the method of 
calculating housing need, ‘Objectively 

Assessed Need’ (OAN) indicates that the 
Borough’s need is more than doubled. 
This effectively means that policies 

limiting development to within the limits 
of built development fall away. 

 There is continuing Government 
alterations to the methodology for 
calculating housing need which is 

creating uncertainty and reducing public 
confidence in the planning system. 

 The risk of appeals has increased. 
 

 Council lose control of situation 

 Increase in level of housing on 

greenfield sites 

 Member and community dissatisfaction 

 Increased traffic congestion 

 Impact on infrastructure 

 Financial benefit of planned growth – 

opportunity impact 

 Significant new costs to support 
production of new Local Plan if rejected 

by an Inspector at Examination. 

 Potential significant appeal related costs 

following refusal of major residential 
development 

 Planning by appeal potentially leading to 

loss of New Homes Bonus  

 Potential legal fees/officer costs/loss of 

section 106 

 Work on a new Local Plan is progressing 
“on target” to a further revised timescale. 

 Frequent meetings and on-going 
communication with Parish and Town 
Councils (PC/TCs). 

 Regular reporting to Planning Policy 
Working Group/Cabinet member/ 

Planning Committee on risk and 
legislative changes 

 Consultation completed on Issues and 

Options document for new Local Plan 

 Two Call for sites exercises attracted 400 

land/site submissions for assessment. 

 Assessment conclusions indicate that 
level of identified need can be met by 

combination of current supply, additional 
allocations and windfall provision. 

Additional allocations already discussed 
with PC/TCs and Neighbourhood Plan 
groups. 

 Proposed draft of new Local Plan due for 
further consultation in summer 2019. 

 

 

P
age 23

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 9:  Development Programme 
 

Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact High (5) / Medium (2) 

Development Programme 

Member Risk 

Owner 

David Jukes Officer Risk Owner David Candlin 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ 

Consequences 

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place 

 The Council has identified a number of 
development opportunities to support the 
growth of the local economy. 
 

 Development of these Council owned sites is 
to be led by the Council, which brings 
additional financial and property risks. 

 

 Economic Climate. 
 

 

 

 Impact on revenue streams and 
income 

 Damage to reputation 

 Insufficient professional expertise 

 Procurement and issues of delay 

 Development Advisory Panel (DAP) to review and 
inform all development and community programmes 

 Programme Board established to oversee and monitor 
progress on all development and transformation projects 

 Officer Groups for the development and community 
programmes, established to manage and control the 
programmes  

 Professional advice sought to establish viability and 
support delivery of Council development and community 
programme schemes   

 Utilisation of framework agreements where appropriate 
to manage procurement timetables 

 Specific risk logs developed for each development site 
and monitored by DAP and officer groups 

 Staged approvals for development progress to manage 
cost exposure and risk 

 Appointment of additional professional staff to enhance 
in-house experience 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 24

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 10:  Calverley Square  
 

Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact High (5) / Severe(3) 

Calverley Square 

Member Risk 

Owner 

David Jukes Officer Risk Owner David Candlin 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ 

Consequences 

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place 

 The Calverley Square development being led 
by the Council brings additional financial and 
property risks. 

 

 Planning decision and process 
 

 Site Assembly and CPO Inquiry 
 

 Judicial review 
 

 Economic Climate  
 

 Internal capacity to deliver 
 

 No tenant for Office space 
 

 Non-delivery of funding strategy 
 

 Value and disposal of the current Civic 
Complex 

 

 

 Impact on revenue streams and 
income 

 Resources and staffing reduced or 
redeployed 

 Impact on decisions 

 Time delay and cost overrun 

 Damage to reputation 

 Insufficient professional expertise 

 Procurement and issues of delay 

 

 Staged approvals for development progress to manage 
cost exposure and risk 

 Appointment of additional property professional staff to 
enhance in-house experience  

 Appointment of additional legal advice to enhance in-
house experience  

 Professional advice appointed to establish client support 
for delivery of Calverley Square development 

 Appointment of Mace as construction contractor on two 
Stage design and build 

 Development Advisory Panel (DAP) to review the 
Calverley Square programme 

 Specific risk logs developed for each workstream and 
monitored by DAP and officer groups including 
Calverley Square Steering Board 

 Calverley Square Steering Board established to oversee 
and monitor progress on the Calverley Square 
workstreams 

 Officer Groups for the Calverley Square development  
established to manage and deliver the workstreams   

 Detailed financial funding strategy approved 

 MTFS has manageable deficits 

 

P
age 25

A
ppendix A



 

P
age 26

A
ppendix A



 

Audit & Governance 
Committee  

2 April 2019 

Is the final decision on the recommendations in this report to be made at this meeting? Yes 

 

Update on complaints received under the 
Members’ Code of Conduct   

 

Final Decision-Maker Audit & Governance Committee 

Portfolio Holder(s)  Leader of the Council, Councillor Jukes 

Lead Director  Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and 
Development 

Head of Service Patricia Narebor, Head of Legal Partnership and 
Monitoring Officer 

Lead Officer/Report Author Keith Trowell, Team Leader (Corporate 
Governance) and Deputy Monitoring Officer  

Classification Non-exempt 

Wards affected All 

  

This report makes the following recommendations to the final decision-maker: 

1. That Members note the update on complaints received under the Members’ Code of 
Conduct. 

 

  

This report relates to the following Five Year Plan Key Objectives: 

 A Prosperous Borough 

 A Green Borough 

 A Confident Borough 

 

The report supports the Council’s commitment to probity in all our affairs as well as the 
values of openness and responsibility. 

  

Timetable 

Meeting Date 

Audit & Governance Committee 2 April 2019 

Page 27

Agenda Item 6



 

Update on complaints received under the 
Members’ Code of Conduct   

 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report provides an update on complaints received under the Members’ 

Code of Conduct in the period 13 November 2018 to 19 March 2019. 
 

 
2. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 
2.1 The current Members’ Code of Conduct (“the Kent Code”) for Tunbridge Wells 

Borough Council was adopted by the Borough Council on 18 July 2012. It was a 
requirement under the Localism Act 2011 that all councils adopt a Code of 
Conduct and that the Code adopted must be based upon the Nolan Principles 
of Conduct in Public Life. At the same Full Council meeting the Council also 
adopted arrangements for dealing with complaints (“the Kent Procedures”) 
made under the Code of Conduct in the Tunbridge Wells area. The current 
version of the Kent Procedures can be found on the Council’s website.  

 
2.2 The Localism Act 2011 requirement to adopt a Code of Conduct also applied to 

the parish and town councils in the Tunbridge Wells area and all have adopted 
a Code of Conduct. These parish and town councils, with the exception of 
Paddock Wood, adopted the same ‘Kent Code’ which had been agreed across 
Kent and was adopted by the County Council, most of the district councils and 
most of the parish and town councils in Kent. Paddock Wood Town Council 
adopted the National Association of Local Councils model Code of Conduct. 

 
2.3 Under the Localism Act 2011 the Borough Council is responsible for dealing 

with any complaints made under the Members’ Codes of Conduct against 
Borough, parish and town council members throughout the Tunbridge Wells 
Borough area. The arrangements for dealing with complaints (“the Kent 
Procedures”) that were adopted by the Borough Council also apply in cases 
concerning parish and town councils. 

 
2.4 The Borough Council have resolved that oversight of the Kent Procedures falls 

under the Audit and Governance Committee. 
 

 
3.     UPDATE ON COMPLAINTS RECEIVED 
 
3.1 At each Audit and Governance Committee meeting the Monitoring Officer 

provides an update regarding Code of Conduct complaints. The update omits 
details of the identities of the complainant and the subject member because the 
Localism Act repealed the previous statutory process under which names were 
published. In the absence of that statutory process, the Data Protection Act 
requires the names to be kept confidential at this stage 

Page 28

Agenda Item 6



 

3.2 At the Audit and Governance Committee on 27 November 2018 it was reported 
that at that time the one ongoing complaint previously reported had been 
concluded with a finding that the allegations were not supported by evidence. 
Since that meeting there have been five new complaints. 
 

3.3     One of the complaints is against a Borough Councillor alleging bullying and    
         aggressive comments. This complaint is at an early stage and is currently being    
        assessed 
 
3.4    The other four complaints are all against the same parish councillor and all   

          comprise similar allegations about bullying, preventing access to information   
          and compromising impartiality. Following initial investigations and the required  
          consultation with the Council’s Independent Person, Mr Michael O’Higgins, the 
          Monitoring Officer decided that the complaints should be referred for formal 
          investigation. An investigator has been appointed and her investigation is  
          underway. The outcome of the investigation will be reported to the Committee  
          at a later date. 
 
3.5     There are no other outstanding complaints. 
 

 
4 PREFERRED OPTION AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

4.1 That Members note the update on complaints received under the Members’ 
Code of Conduct. 

 

 
5 CONSULTATION RESULTS AND PREVIOUS COMMITTEE FEEDBACK 
 
5.1 This report does not require further consultation as it is for information only. 
 

 
6 NEXT STEPS: COMMUNICATION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF THE 

DECISION 
 
6.1 The Committee’s decision will be published in the minutes of this meeting on 

the Council’s website in due course. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
7      CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES AND IMPLICATIONS 
 

Issue Implications Sign-off 

(name of officer and date) 

Legal including 
Human Rights 
Act 

It is a requirement under the 
Localism Act 2011 that all Councils 
adopt a Code of Conduct and that 

Keith Trowell, Team Leader 
(Corporate Governance) – 
19.03.19. 

Page 29

Agenda Item 6



 

the Code adopted must be based 
upon the Nolan Principles of 
Conduct in Public Life. The 
Members’ Code of Conduct was 
adopted by Full Council on 18 July 
2012 and can be found on the 
Council’s website. 

 

Finance and 
other resources 

If a complaint proceeds to 
investigation it may be carried out 
by an external person. If this is the 
case, there will be an irrecoverable 
cost to the Council. 
 

Jane Fineman, Head of 
Finance & Procurement  
20.03.19 

Staffing 
establishment 

 

No issues.  

Risk 
management   

An effective complaints system is 
part of an effective system of 
governance. 

  

Keith Trowell, Team Leader 
(Corporate Governance) – 
19.03.19. 

Data 
Protection 

Data will be held and processed in 
accordance with the data protection 
principles contained in the Data 
Protection Act 2018. 

Keith Trowell, Team Leader 
(Corporate Governance) – 
19.03.19. 

Environment  
and 
sustainability 

There are no relevant issues 
identified within this report. 
 

 

Community 
safety 

 

There are no relevant issues 
identified within this report. 

 

Health and 
Safety 

There are no relevant issues 
identified within this report. 
 

 

Health and 
wellbeing 

There are no relevant issues 
identified within this report. 
 

 

Equalities The There are no relevant issues 
identified within this report. 
 

 

 
 
8      REPORT APPENDICES 

None 
 

 
9    BACKGROUND PAPERS  
None 

Page 30

Agenda Item 6



 

Audit and Governance 
Committee 

2 April 2019 

Is the final decision on the recommendations in this report to be made at this meeting? No 

 

Review of the Constitution April 2019 
 

Final Decision-Maker Full Council 

Portfolio Holder(s)  Councillor David Reilly – Portfolio Holder for Finance and 
Governance 

Lead Director  Lee Colyer – Director of Finance, Policy and Governance 

Head of Service Patricia Narebor – Head of Legal Partnership 

Lead Officer/Author Estelle Culligan – Principal Solicitor, Contentious and 
Corporate Governance 

Classification Non-exempt 

Wards affected All 

  

This report makes the following recommendations to the final decision-maker: 

 

1. That Part 2, Article 10 (Suspension, Interpretation and Publication of the 
Constitution), Paragraph 10.3 be amended so that the words: “The Monitoring Officer 
will give a printed copy of this Constitution to each member of the Council upon 
delivery to him of that individual’s declaration of acceptance of office on the member 
first being elected to the Council” be replaced with: “All members are referred to the 
up to date version of the Constitution, which is maintained online. The Monitoring 
Officer will give a printed copy of the Constitution to a member of the Council if that 
member requests a copy”; 

 

2. That Part 3, Section 7 (Audit and Governance Committee), Paragraph 7.1 be 
amended so that the words “5 independent members” be replaced with: “2 
independent members”; 

 

3. That Part 3, Annex C (Officer Scheme of Delegations), Table 1 (General Delegations 
to All Chief Officers), Paragraph 13 be amended so that the words: “Monitoring 
Officer £250” be replaced with: “Monitoring Officer £500”; 

 

4. That Part 3, Annex C (Officer Scheme of Delegations), Table 2 (Delegations to the 
Chief Officers) be amended to add a new clause after paragraph 51 that reads: “To 
settle employment claims and other staff related payments in consultation with the 
Head of Paid Service and the Head of Human Resources, Customer Services and 
Culture, where it is in the best interests of the Council to do so.” and the subsequent 
paragraphs be renumbered as appropriate; 

 
(Continued overleaf) 

 

Page 31

Agenda Item 7



 

 

5. That Part 3, Annex C (Officer Scheme of Delegations), Table 2 (Delegations to the 
Chief Officers), Paragraph 60 be amended so that the words: “£50,000” be replaced 
with: “250,000”; 

  

6. That Part 5, Annex 4 to the Code of Conduct (Code of Conduct for Employees) be 
amended to add a new clause after paragraph 11.4.2 that reads: “Any gift up to a de 
minimis equivalent financial value of £25, which can be accepted and does not need 
to be declared, up to a cumulative maximum of £100 in any one financial year.” 

 

7. That Part 3, Section 9 (Investigatory Committee) be amended as set out at Appendix 
A to the report; 

 

8. That an Independent Panel be established and the terms of reference as set out at 
Appendix B to the report be agreed. Said terms of reference to be added to Part 3 
after section 10 and the subsequent sections be renumbered as appropriate; and 

 

9. That the minor amendments made under the Monitoring Officers delegated authority 
set out at Appendix C to the report be noted. 

 

  

Explain how this report relates to the Corporate Priorities in the Five Year Plan: 

 Providing Value – A Constitution that is regularly reviewed and up-to-date enables 
efficiency and efficacy across a range of Council services. 

  

Timetable 

Meeting Date 

Management Board 16 January 2019 

Constitution Review Working Party 13 March 2019 

Agreed for publication by Portfolio Holder 20 March 2019 

Agreed for publication by Head of Service 20 March 2019 

Constitution Review Working Party 21 March 2019 

Audit and Governance Committee 2 April 2019 

Full Council 24 April 2019 
Tunbridge Wells Committee Report, version: March 2019 

Page 32

Agenda Item 7



 

Review of the Constitution April 2019 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report sets out and recommends several amendments to the Constitution 

following consultation with the Constitution Review Working Party. 
 
1.2 The proposed amendments fall into two categories: firstly from the outcome of a 

‘page-turn’ exercise which will help the Council operate more smoothly; the 
second are related to the disciplinary policy for senior statutory officers, which 
come about at a result of legislative changes. 

 

 
2. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Under the Tunbridge Wells Constitution, the Audit and Governance Committee 

is responsible for “oversight of the effectiveness of the Constitution and making 
recommendations for change. The Constitution Review Working Party meets as 
an when required to assist the Audit and Governance Committee with 
considerations of reviews of the Constitution prior to recommendations to Full 
Council and to act as a sounding board for the delegated decision making 
powers of the Monitoring Officer. 

 
2.2 The CRWP met on 13 March 2019 in an informal capacity primarily to receive a 

briefing on a number of changes to be made under the Monitoring Officer’s 
delegated authority; the other changes requiring approval were also touched on 
at that time. The CRWP further met on 21 March 2019 to discuss the specific 
proposals set out in this report. 

 
2.3 The senior statutory officers are the Head of Paid Service, the Section 151 

Officer (The Director of Finance, Policy and Development) and the Monitoring 
Officer (The Head of the Legal Partnership). They are subject to a statutory 
disciplinary and dismissal scheme contained within the Local Authorities 
(Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001. These regulations set out a 
procedure for disciplinary action and stated that dismissal of the statutory 
officers could only be in accordance with a recommendation in a report made by 
a Designated Independent Person (DIP). For TWBC, the procedure only affects 
the Chief Executive and the Section 151 Financial Officer as the Monitoring 
Officer is employed by Swale BC. 

 
2.4 On 11 May 2015, the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2015 replaced the Designated Independent Person (DIP) 
provisions with a Panel process. Following this, the Joint Negotiating Committee 
(JNC) published an updated edition of the Chief Executives’ Handbook, in which 
the model procedure for dealing with matters of discipline incorporates the new 
statutory process. 

 
 
 

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



 

2.5 In summary, the changes to the procedure are: 
 

 that the final decision to dismiss any of the senior statutory officers must be 
by resolution of full Council. 

 that the Council appoints a standing Investigatory Committee to investigate 
all disciplinary issues involving any of the three statutory officers. 

 that the Council appoints an Appeals Panel which can deal with all appeals 
on disciplinary decisions short of dismissal involving the statutory officers. 

 that the Council appoints an Independent Panel which must include two 
Independent Persons. This Panel reviews and comments on any 
recommendation of the Investigatory Committee to dismiss a statutory 
officer. 

 that, before taking a vote on whether to approve such a dismissal, full 
Council must take into account, in particular: 

o any advice, views or recommendations of the Independent Panel 
o the conclusions of any investigation into the proposed dismissal; 

and 
o any representations from the statutory officer who is the subject of 

the proposed dismissal 
 

2.6 Although full Council must take the issues stated above into account, it is not 
bound by them. This is different to the current procedure, whereby the Council 
must appoint a DIP and must act in accordance with the DIP’s report and 
recommendation. 

 

2.7 TWBC’s HR team is currently working to update the Council’s Disciplinary 
Policy, which incorporates the model procedures. 

 

 

3. PROPOSED CHANGES FROM THE PAGE-TURN EXERCISE 
 

Printed copies of the Constitution (Recommendation 1) 
 
3.1 Description: The Constitution currently requires that all new members be issued 

with a printed copy of the Constitution which is currently 348 pages long. This 
becomes out of date as soon as any amendments are approved and results in 
an unmanageable number of Constitutions in various degrees of completeness 
being in circulation. The Constitution is now available online which provides a 
definitive and always current version. Furthermore, all members have either a 
Council issued tablet or have opted to use their own device which will become 
mandatory for all meeting agenda, reports and minutes etc. in the new 
municipal year. The Constitution is also already available through the same 
devices.  It is proposed that printed copies of the Constitution will only be issued 
on request. 

 
3.2 Amendment: Part 2, Article 10 – Suspension, Interpretation and Publication of 

the Constitution, Paragraph 10.3: 
 

“10.3 Publication 
The Monitoring Officer will give a printed copy of this Constitution to each 
member of the Council upon delivery to him of that individual’s declaration of 

Page 34

Agenda Item 7



 

acceptance of office on the member first being elected to the Council. All 
members are referred to the up to date version of the Constitution, which is 
maintained online. The Monitoring Officer will give a printed copy of the 
Constitution to a member of the Council if that member requests a copy.” 

  
 Independent Members (Recommendation 2) 
 
3.3 Description: Full Council on 23 May 2018 agreed in principle (FC8/18) to reduce 

the number of independent members on the Audit and Governance Committee. 
The Committee has functioned well with only two independent members since. 
Therefore it is proposed to make this change permanent. This type of change 
could ordinarily be made under the Monitoring Officer’s delegated authority. 
However, the report to Full Council specifically set out that the decision was to 
come back to Full Council. 

 

3.4 Amendment: Part 3, Section 7 – Audit and Governance Committee, Paragraph 
7.1: 

 
“7.1 Membership: 

 8 members of the Council 
 5 2 independent members 
 2 members of a parish or town council wholly or mainly in the Council’s area” 
 

Monitoring Officer’s approval limit in cases of maladministration 
(Recommendation 3) 

 
3.5 Description: Increases the limit to which the Monitoring Officer may make 

payments or provide other benefits in cases of maladministration from £250 to 
£500. The requested change is to bring the approval limit in line with that of 
other senior officers. 

 
3.6 Amendment: Part 3, Annex C – Officer Scheme of Delegations, Table 1 – 

General Delegations to All Chief Officers, Paragraph 13: 
 

“13. To make payments or provide other benefits in cases of maladministration 
in accordance with Section 92 of the Local Government Act 2000 (as amended) 
as follows: 

  
 Chief Executive £1,500 
 Directors  £1,000 
 Monitoring Officer £250 500 
 Heads of Service £500” 
 

Section 151 Officer’s approval of staff related payments 
(Recommendation 4) 

 
3.7 Description: Adds delegated authority for the Section 151 Officer to settle 

employment claims and other staff related payments and renumbers the 
subsequent paragraphs as appropriate. Requested change is within the normal 
responsibilities of a Finance Director. 

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



 

3.8 Amendment: Part 3, Annex C – Officer Scheme of Delegations, Table 2 – 
Delegations to Chief Officers, New paragraph 52: 

 

“52. To settle employment claims and other staff related payments in 
consultation with the Head of Paid Service and the Head of Human Resources, 
Customer Services and Culture, where it is in the best interests of the Council to 
do so.” 

 

Monitoring Officer’s approval limit to settle court proceedings 
(Recommendation 5) 

 

3.9 Description: Increases the limit to which the Monitoring Officer may settle court 
or tribunal proceedings from £50,000 to £250,000. Requested change reflects 
the seniority of the Head of Legal and Monitoring Officer and allows flexibility to 
take decisions in a wider variety of legal cases. 

 

3.10 Amendment: Part 3, Annex C – Officer Scheme of Delegations, Table 2 – 
Delegations to Chief Officers, Paragraph 60: 

 

“60. To settle any action in any court or tribunal in which the Council is a party 
or where legal proceedings are indicated providing that any settlement 
exceeding £250,000 will be subject to prior consultation with the S151 Officer, 
and the Leader or Deputy Leader of the Council except in cases of urgency 
where the settlement is made on the advice of Counsel.” 

 

 Value of disclosable gifts for officers (Recommendation 6) 
 

3.11 Description: Adds an exception to declarable gifts for officers where the value is 
less than £25. Approving and recording all trivial gifts is time consuming and an 
unnecessary control. Items of a token value and promotional nature are already 
exceptions to declaration and this statement of equivalent financial value helps 
to clarify the code. 

 

3.12 Amendment: Part 5, Annex 4 to the Code of Conduct – Code of Conduct for 
Employees, New paragraph 11.4.3: 

 

“11.4.3 Any gift up to a de minimis equivalent financial value of £25 does not 
need to be declared, up to a cumulative maximum of £100 in any one financial 
year.” 

 

 

4. PROPOSED CHANGES FROM LEGISLATIVE CHANGES 
 

Investigatory Committee (Recommendation 7) 
 

4.1 Description: The regulations state that the Investigating and Disciplinary 
Committee must be a politically balanced committee. The model procedure 
suggests that it comprises five members. The committee may need to meet at 
short notice to consider allegations and take decisions urgently, including 
whether there is a clear case to answer and whether there is a need to suspend 
a statutory officer immediately. The committee has an important role in 
considering the report of any independent investigator which it might appoint to 

Page 36

Agenda Item 7



 

carry out the initial investigation. The committee will also be making 
recommendations directly to Council, therefore it is important that it is not a sub 
committee of any other committee, but is a standing committee in its own right. 
The model procedure states, that where a Council operates a Cabinet and 
Leader model of governance, a member of Cabinet should sit on the 
Investigatory Committee. The Council already has a standing Investigatory 
Committee, set out in Part 3 of the Constitution, but the committee requires 
some amendments to its terms of reference. 

 

4.2 Amendment: Part 3, Section 9 Investigatory Committee: 
 

 Section to be amended, details as set out at Appendix A to the report. 
 

 Independent Panel (Recommendation 8) 
 

4.3 Description: The regulations state that the Independent Panel must comprise at 
least two independent persons who must be the Independent Person appointed 
to oversee code of conduct complaints for the Council and at least one other 
Independent Person. This other Independent Person can be appointed by the 
Council or could be someone who carries out the same function for a 
neighbouring authority. It is proposed that Michael O’Higgins, the Council’s 
Independent Person and Barbara Varney (Independent Person for both Swale 
BC and Maidstone BC) are asked to comprise the panel, and that the 
requirement to sit on the panel is included in the role description for any future 
recruitment of the Independent Person.  

 

4.4 Amendment: Part 3, New section 11: 
 

 Section to be added, details as set out at Appendix B to the report. 
 

 Other minor changes made under the Monitoring Officer’s delegated 
authority for noting (Recommendation 9) 

 
4.5 Article 9 of the Constitution - Legislative Changes - states that any part of the 

Constitution may be amended by the Monitoring Officer where such amendment 
is required to be made so as to comply with any legislative provision. Such 
amendments shall take effect when the Monitoring Officer so decides or the 
legislation (where relevant) so provides. Details of further minor changes 
necessary to implement the changes in legislation are set out in Appendix C to 
the report for noting.  

 

 
5. AVAILABLE OPTIONS 
 
5.1 Approve the changes 
 
5.2 Decline some or all the proposed changes. 
 
5.3 Recommendations 7 and 8 are deemed to be in accordance with best practice 

in implementing the legislation. Failure to agree these items would require an 
alternative proposal which satisfies the statutory process. 

 

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



 

6. PREFERRED OPTION AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
6.1 It is recommended that all the aforementioned proposals are approved. The 

proposed changes have been put forward by the relevant service area as being 
necessary or desirable to facilitate more efficient processes or to comply with 
statutory changes. 

 

 
7. CONSULTATION RESULTS AND PREVIOUS COMMITTEE FEEDBACK 
 
7.1 The Constitution Review Working Party considered the proposals on 21 March 

2019 and all bar one recommendation was supported. Recommendation 5 
(Monitoring Officer’s approval limit to settle court proceedings), which had been 
proposed by the Director of Finance, Policy and Development, was not 
supported due to the size of the increase and a lack of consultation on the 
proposal. 
 

7.2 However, Audit & Governance Committee members may wish to continue to 
recommend the amendment to Full Council for further debate on the basis of 
consistency, bearing in mind that a limit of £250,000 would bring it in line with 
the threshold for a key decision ie Cabinet level.  Additional information on the 
limits exercised by other local Councils will be updated at the Committee 
meeting. 

 

 
8. NEXT STEPS: COMMUNICATION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF THE 

DECISION 
 
8.1 Subject to approval by the Audit and Governance Committee, the proposed 

changes will be submitted to Full Council. 
 
8.2 If Full Council is minded to approve the changes, the Constitution will be 

deemed to have been amended with immediate effect. The relevant documents 
will be updated and published on the website in due course. 

 

 
9. CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES AND IMPLICATIONS 
 

Issue Implications Sign-off 

Legal including 
Human Rights 
Act 

The Monitoring Officer has authority to 
periodically review and suggest changes to 
the Constitution under Article 9 of the 
Constitution. The review has been 
undertaken with the input of the Chief 
Executive and the Director of Finance 

Estelle Culligan, 

Principal Solicitor 
Corporate 
Governance 

21 March 2019 

Finance and 
other resources 

There are no significant implications in 
relation to Environment and Sustainability as 
a result of the recommendations set out in 
this report. 

Page 38

Agenda Item 7



 

Staffing 
establishment 

There are no significant implications in 
relation to Staffing, beyond those identified 
in the body of the report, as a result of the 
recommendations set out in this report 

Risk 
Management   

There are no significant implications in 
relation to Risk Management as a result of 
the recommendations set out in this report. 

Data Protection There are no significant implications in 
relation to Data Protection as a result of the 
recommendations set out in this report. 

Environment  
and Sustainability 

There are no significant implications in 
relation to Environment and Sustainability as 
a result of the recommendations set out in 
this report. 

Community 
Safety 

There are no significant implications in 
relation to Community Safety as a result of 
the recommendations set out in this report. 

Health and 
Safety 

There are no significant implications in 
relation to Health and Safety as a result of 
the recommendations set out in this report. 

Health and 
Wellbeing 

There are no significant implications in 
relation to Health and Wellbeing as a result 
of the recommendations set out in this 
report. 

Equalities There are no significant implications in 
relation to Equalities as a result of the 
recommendations set out in this report. 

 
 
10. REPORT APPENDICES 
 
The following documents are to be published with and form part of the report: 

 Appendix A: Proposed amendments to the terms of reference for the Investigatory 
Committee. 

 Appendix B: Proposed new terms of reference for the Independent Panel. 

 Appendix C: Other minor amendments to the Constitution made under the 
Monitoring Officer’s delegated authority and required to be reported to Full 
Council on account of them being due to legislative changes (Article 9.3.4). 

 

 
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS  
 

 Chief Executives’ Handbook in which the model procedure for dealing with 
matters of discipline incorporates the new statutory process: 
http://www.emcouncils.gov.uk/write/Chf_Exec_Handbook_13Oct16.pdf 

 

Page 39

Agenda Item 7

http://www.emcouncils.gov.uk/write/Chf_Exec_Handbook_13Oct16.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



26 

August 2017 

9 INVESTIGATORY INVESTIGATING AND DISCIPLINARY COMMITTEE 

Delegated Matters:- 
To carry out the following functions in relation to the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief 
Finance Officer.  
 

i. To discharge the functions of the “Investigating and Disciplinary 
Committee/Investigating Panel” as set out in the JNC Conditions of Service. 

 
ii. To consider any allegations made against the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring 

Officer or Chief Finance Officer and decide if further investigation is required. 
 
iii. To hear evidence and representations from the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring 

Officer or Chief Finance Officer in order to decide if a case exists. 
 

iv. To carry out a preliminary investigation and determine if a question of discipline 
exists which requires investigation by a Designated Independent Person an 
Independent Investigator and to appoint such an investigator. 

 
v. To receive any reports from the Independent Investigator and consider 

recommendations arising from the report. 
 

vi. Subject to the Local Authority (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001, as 
amended by the Local Authority (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2015, and to the extent not already delegated to an officer of the 
Council, to suspend the relevant officer under the terms of the relevant National 
Agreements.. 

 
vii. To hear evidence and representations from the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring 

Officers or Chief Financial Officers in order to decide if a case existsTo take any 
disciplinary action short of dismissal against the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring 
Officer or Chief Finance Officer, following, if necessary, the consideration of the 
report of the Independent Investigator. 

 
viii. In the case of a proposal to dismiss the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer or 

Chief Finance Officer, To appoint an independent person to refer the matter to the 
Independent Panel, further to statutory provisions and relevant national agreements. 

 
ix. To receive any reports from the Designated Independent Person Panel and, subject 

to the Regulations, implement any recommendations arising from such a report refer 
those recommendations to Full Council for consideration. 

 
x. To compromise any claims or agree terms for the settlement of any disputes arising 

as between the Statutory Officers and the Council. 
 
 
Membership: 5 members of the authority (including at least one member of the Executive)  
Quorum: 3 (to include at least one member of the Executive) 
Substitute members: 3 
 

Page 41

Appendix A



This page is intentionally left blank



11 INDEPENDENT PANEL 

Delegated Matters:- 
To carry out the following functions in relation to the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief 
Finance Officer.  
 

i. To consider any proposal from the Investigatory Committee to dismiss any of the 
Statutory Officers 

 

ii. To hear representations from the relevant Statutory Officer and the Investigatory 
Committee and to ask questions of either party 

 

iii. To review the decision of the Investigatory Committee and prepare a report for Full 
Council, stating clearly, with reasons whether the Panel agreed or disagrees with the 
recommendation to dismiss. 

 
 
Membership: 2 Independent Persons, one of whom is the Independent Person appointed by the Council 
to oversee complaints under the Code of Conduct. The second member shall be the Independent 
Person of a neighbouring Council, who has been appointed for a similar purpose. 

Page 43

Appendix B



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Minor Change to the Constitution   
 
Title: 

Disciplinary proceedings for senior statutory officers 

   
Relevant section of the Constitution (including page/paragraph number): 

 
a) Part 2, (Page 12) Article 4 – Full Council, New paragraph 4.5.28 
b) Part 3, (Page 8), Regulatory and Other Committees 
c) Part 4, (Page 103) Officer Employment Procedure Rules, Paragraph 7.2 
 

 
Description of proposed change: 
(Please show the tracked changes here or attached as a separate word document) 
 
a) New paragraph. Adds the responsibility for dismissing the senior chief officers to 

the functions of Full Council. 
 
b) Amends the existing section. Changes the name of the Investigatory Committee 

to Investigating and Disciplinary Committee and adds the Independent Panel to 
the list of committees referred to in the subsequent section. 

 
c) Amends the existing section. Adds a requirement that any disciplinary action will 

be in accordance with the statutory procedure. 

 
 
Reason, including referenced documents/acts, for proposed change:  

 
Necessary changes to implement new procedures relating to disciplinary 
proceedings for senior statutory officers in based on requirement introduced by the 
Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 as amended by the 
Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (Amendment) Regulations 2015. The new 
procedures are based on and in accordance with the model procedures formulated 
by the Joint Negotiating Committee. 
 
Part 2, Article 9, Paragraph 9.3 authorises the MO to amend the Constitution so as to 
comply with any legislative provision with any such changes being reported to Full 
Council for information. 
 

 
Timescale:  

 
Implementation is immediate following approval of the main recommendations. 
 

 
Proposer: 

Name: Estelle Culligan 

Title: Principal Solicitor, Contentious and Corporate Governance 

Date: 8 March 2019 

 
Approval: (to be completed by Democratic Services) 

 
*Changes approved by the Monitoring Officer under delegated authority 
*Proposed major changes to be submitted to Audit and Governance Committee 
for approval 
  
Signature of Monitoring Officer: 
Date: 

Amendment No:  Date incorporated: 
 

Page 45

Appendix C



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Audit & Governance 
Committee 

2 April 2019 

Is the final decision on the recommendations in this report to be made at this meeting? Yes 

 

Internal Audit & Assurance Plan 2019/20 
 

Final Decision-Maker Audit & Governance Committee 

Portfolio Holder Cllr David Reilly – Portfolio Holder for Finance & Governance 

Lead Director  Lee Colyer – Director of Finance, Policy & Development 

Head of Service Rich Clarke – Head of Audit Partnership 

Lead Officer/Author Rich Clarke – Head of Audit Partnership 

Classification Non-exempt 

Wards affected All 

  

This report makes the following recommendations to the final decision-maker: 

1. Approve the Internal Audit & Assurance Plan for 2019/20 

2. Note the Head of Audit Partnership’s view that the Partnership currently has 
sufficient resources to deliver the plan and a robust Head of Audit Opinion. 

3. Note the Head of Audit Partnership’s assurance that the plan is compiled 
independently and without inappropriate influence from management. 

4. Note the proposed criteria for commissioning an External Quality Assessment of the 
audit service later in 2019/20. 

  

Explain how this report relates to the Corporate Priorities in the Five Year Plan: 

 The Internal Audit & Assurance Plan supports good governance which underpins 
achievement of all the Council’s priorities. 

  

Timetable 

Meeting Date 

Management Board 13 March 2019 

Audit & Governance Committee 2 April 2019 
Tunbridge Wells Committee Report, version: March 2019 

Page 47

Agenda Item 8



 

Internal Audit & Assurance Plan 2019/20 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the “Standards”) require an audit 

service to produce and publish a risk based plan, at least annually, for approval 

by Members.  The plan must consider input from senior management and 

Members. 

1.2 In Mid Kent Audit, planning is a continuous activity but we began the 
programme working towards the 2019/20 plan document in late 2018.  The 
paper here sets out the plan and project list intended for 2019/20 for Member 
approval. 

 

 
2. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The Standards set out the requirements that a Head of Audit must meet in 

setting out the plan.  We refer to relevant sections from the Standards in the 
appendix to this report.   

 
2.2 To note, audit plans must be at least annual but can have shorter timescales if 

needed.  Also, the Standards explicitly direct that Head of Audit must keep the 
plan flexible and responsive to emerging and changing risks across the year. 
 

2.3 2019/20 also marks five years since our last External Quality Assessment.  This 
means we must commission a new assessment during this year.  The plan 
document sets out a proposed approach for commissioning the assessment.  
Noting this Committee as a key client for the assessment, we also seek the 
Committee’s view on how we should undertake that commission. 

 

 
3. AVAILABLE OPTIONS 
 
3.1 The Standards mandate compiling a risk based plan for management 

comments and Member approval.  Although by convention that plan is 
presented annually around the start of the financial year, the Standards do not 
specifically require that action.  The Council could, potentially, move to a shorter 
planning cycle which would allow more flexibility for responding to risk.  There 
are other authorities that take a similar approach (Suffolk CC, to name one 
example). 

 
3.2 However, that move would strike against a practice considered to work well, 

and one which allows a degree of certainty to resource requirements that helps 
ensure stability in a service spread across four authorities. 
 

3.3 The Standards do not mandate any specific work for the plan, so its content is 
entirely at the discretion of the internal audit provider (subject to the comments 

Page 48

Agenda Item 8



 

of management and approval of Members) and have an enormous range of 
possibilities with respect to the areas that could be examined.  The attached 
document represents the currently proposed responses to the risks assessed. 

 

 
4. PREFERRED OPTION AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 The appendix sets out the proposed plan for 2019/20, including background 

details on how we compiled the plan and how we propose to manage its 
delivery. 
 

4.2 We confirm to Members that, although the plan has undergone broad 
consultation with management, it is compiled independently and without being 
subject to inappropriate influence. 

 

 
5. CONSULTATION RESULTS AND PREVIOUS COMMITTEE FEEDBACK 
 
5.1 We circulated an earlier, longer, draft to Heads of Service and Directors and 

held individual meetings to discuss proposed projects in their areas.  Those 
meetings have now taken place and the attached represents an adaptation of 
the original draft reflecting comments received. 

 
5.2 The overall resource allocation between the partners is consistent with the 

collaboration agreement and discussed with the Shared Service Board. 
 

 
6. NEXT STEPS: COMMUNICATION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF THE 

DECISION 
 
6.1 On approval, we will begin work to deliver the plan.  We will report results back 

to Members in Mid-Year and our Annual Opinion, consistent with the approach 
of previous years. 

 
6.2 Having consulted Members across all four authorities in the partnership on the 

External Quality Assessment, we will take comments into account and draw up 
a detailed proposal to take forward to procurement.  We will put that proposal 
before Members for comment in our Annual Opinion report due in July 2019. 

 

 
7. CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES AND IMPLICATIONS 
 
 

Issue Implications Sign-off 

Legal including 
Human Rights 
Act 

The Council is required by Regulation to 
operate an internal audit service, including 
agreeing a plan at least annually.  Therefore 
the Council must approve a plan to maintain 
regulatory conformance. 

Rich Clarke 

Head of Audit 
Partnership 

20 March 2019 

Finance and The work programme set out in the plan is 

Page 49

Agenda Item 8



 

Issue Implications Sign-off 

other resources produced to be fulfilled within agreed 
resources for 2019/20. 

Staffing 
establishment 

The work programme set out in the plan is 
produced to be fulfilled within agreed 
resources for 2019/20. 

Risk 
Management   

The audit plan draws on the Council’s risk 
management in considering the areas for 
audit examination.  In turn, audit findings will 
provide feedback on the identification, 
management and controls operating within 
the risk management process. 

Data Protection We collect and store information in the 
course of our audit work examining areas of 
the Council.  We use that information in 
accordance with our collaboration 
agreement which, in turn, is in accordance 
with applicable laws and regulations. 

Environment  
and Sustainability 

No direct implications. 

Community 
Safety 

 

No direct implications. 

Health and 
Safety 

No direct implications. 

Health and 
Wellbeing 

No direct implications. 

Equalities No direct implications. 

 
 
 
8. REPORT APPENDICES 
 
The following documents are to be published with and form part of the report: 

 Appendix A: Internal Audit & Assurance Plan 2019/20 (note that the plan itself 
includes appendices numbered I – IV).] 

 

 
9. BACKGROUND PAPERS  
 
The appendix includes reference to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (full 
document at this link). Further background papers, including detailed resource 
calculations, risk assessments and notes from consultation meetings can be made 
available on request. 
 

Page 50

Agenda Item 8

http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/standards/public-sector-internal-audit-standards


MID KENT AUDIT 
   
 

1 | P a g e  
 

Internal Audit & Assurance 

Plan 2019/20 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

 

Page 51

Appendix A



MID KENT AUDIT 
   
 

2 | P a g e  
 

Introduction 

1. We provide an independent and objective assurance and consulting service designed 

to add value to and improve the Council’s work.  We help the Council achieve its 

objectives by bringing a systematic and disciplined approach to evaluate and improve 

effectiveness of risk management, control and governance. 

2. We work within statutory rules drawn from the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 

and the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the “Standards”).  In 2015 the Institute 

of Internal Audit (IIA) assessed us as working in full conformance with the Standards.  

We have kept full conformance since then, including through the major update to the 

Standards in 2017. 

3. Over the next year we must commission an External Quality Review as five years have 

passed since our last assessment.  We discuss the assessment need further later in this 

report. 

4. We also work to an Audit Charter agreed at each partner authority.  The Charter sets 

out the local context for audit, including independence safeguards.  At this Council, 

the Audit & Governance Committee approved the Charter in March 2016. 

5. The Standards set out demands on the Head of Audit Partnership for compiling and 

presenting a document to describe planned work for the year ahead.  The plan, 

presented for Member approval, must set out: 

 Internal audit’s evaluation of and response to the risks facing the organisation. 

 How we consult with senior management and others. 

 How we have considered whether we have suitable resources to address the 

risks we identify. 

 How we will effectively use those resources to complete the plan. 

6. The Plan can include assurance and non-assurance rated engagements.  This means 

we can accept consultancy work where this is the best way to support the Council.  

We set out considerations for accepting such engagements in the Audit Charter. 

7. We must also clarify that our audit plan cannot address all risks across the Council and 

represents our best use of invariably limited resources.  In approving the plan, the 

Committee recognises this limit. We will keep the Committee abreast of any changes 

in our assessment of need as we oversee the risks posed to the Council.  In particular 

we will undertake a full evaluation of need during each annual planning round.  

Page 52

Appendix A

http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/standards/public-sector-internal-audit-standards
http://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s26591/Audit%20Charter%20Appendix%20A.pdf


MID KENT AUDIT 
   
 

3 | P a g e  
 

Risk Assessments 

8. The Standards direct us to begin our planning with a risk assessment.  This assessment 

must consider risks both from global changes and within the Council.  We must also 

keep our risk assessment current.  This plan represents our conclusions now, but we 

will continue to reflect and consider our response as risks and priorities change across 

the year. We will report a specific update to Members midway through the year. We 

may also consult the Committee (or its Chairman) on other significant changes if the 

need arises. 

Global and Sector Risks 

9. In considering global and sector risks we draw on various sources.  This includes 

updates provided by relevant professional bodies, such as the Institute of Internal 

Audit (IIA) and CIPFA.  We also consult with colleagues both direct through groups 

such as London and Kent Audit Groups and through review of all other published audit 

plans in the South East. 

10. These sources give us insight into both the key issues facing local government and 

how audit teams respond.  To show our thinking on these global risks we’ve 

highlighted below some of the issues discussed by the IIA in Risk In Focus 2019. 

 

The Risk 

Cybersecurity has been a high-priority risk for many years and this shows no signs of 

subsiding. Companies are pushing to move away from legacy systems. As approaches to 

managing cyber risk mature, attention is turning to third-party defensibility. 

Tunbridge Wells Context 

Mid Kent’s ICT strategy makes great use of the ‘cloud’. For example the current rollout of 

Microsoft Office 365 across the authority.  Increasingly, individual services are also relying 

on software hosted by suppliers outside the Council’s direct control; Internal Audit with 

Pentana being just one example. 

 

Page 53

Appendix A

https://www.iia.org.uk/media/1689824/risk-in-focus-2019.pdf


MID KENT AUDIT 
   
 

4 | P a g e  
 

Mid Kent Audit Response – Cybersecurity & Third Parties 

We are now in the second year as members of the Apex Framework; a large professional 

services contract managed by LB Croydon. This gives us immediate access to specialist and 

general support at set rates.  In 2019/20 we plan to use that specialist support to help look 

specifically at how our IT service can draw assurance where third parties hold and manage 

our data and services via our networks. 

 

 

The Risk 

Anti-bribery and corruption risk is longstanding. However, national legislative reforms, 

coordinated global enforcement by regulators and record-breaking fines are raising the 

stakes and pushing this issue to the top of the corporate agenda. 

Tunbridge Wells Context 

The IIA report reflects updated legislation across the world, notably in China, Brazil, France 

and Spain.  While this subject is settled in UK law with the Bribery Act 2010, in Tunbridge 

Wells in 2019 we may see several new Members. They will need an understanding of how 

the rules work within the Public Sector. 

Mid Kent Audit Response 

In our plan for 2019/20 we aim to develop and deliver anti bribery training materials, aimed 

first at Members and key officer subjects.  This training will explain the law, the Council’s 

policy and how we expect people to respond to any concerns on corrupt practices. 

 

 

 

Page 54

Appendix A



MID KENT AUDIT 
   
 

5 | P a g e  
 

 

The Risk 

The IIA’s description of this risk highlights protectionist trade tariffs between the USA and 

China as well as increasing trade sanctions.  However, in the UK, this risk touches on Brexit 

and how UK trade might look in 2019/20 and beyond. 

Tunbridge Wells Context 

The Council’s risk register recognises the threats to the Council’s income and Tunbridge 

Wells’ economy through broader economic changes.  Tunbridge Wells is, like all Kent 

Councils, also vulnerable to issues arising from any significant traffic issues cause by delays 

at ports and the channel tunnel. 

Mid Kent Audit Response 

The daily changing outlook on Brexit makes including any specific work on that topic in our 

annual plan a difficult task.  However in 2019/20, as in previous years, we have set aside a 

consultancy budget to deal with emerging issues.  Also, audit standards demand we keep 

our wider plan flexible in the face of developing risks. 

 

 

The Risk 

There is a notable inconsistency in the IIA’s surveys between organisations’ priority risks and 

where internal audit focuses its time. Chief Audit Executives should therefore re-evaluate 

with their audit committees whether internal audit works effectively to deliver sound risk-

based assurance. 

Tunbridge Wells Context 

The Council sets out its strategic risks clearly in regular reporting to Senior Officers and 

Members.   

Page 55

Appendix A



MID KENT AUDIT 
   
 

6 | P a g e  
 

Mid Kent Audit Response (Auditing the Right Risks) 

We seek to draw on the Council’s risk information to help us compile and check our 

planning.  Without neglecting more ‘routine’ matters, we aim to give due weight to strategic 

risks and add assurance where we can. 

 

Local Risks 

11. The Council compiles and surveys a set of Strategic Risks.  These cover matters that 

threaten the Council’s overall objectives, either because of their severity or the 

breadth of impact across several services. 

12. We were also involved in a workshop at the end of March looking at refreshing the 

Council’s strategic risk register.  While that workshop is too late to influence this plan 

as presented, we will keep the plan under review as the Council identifies and 

manages new and emerging risks 

Audit Risk Review and Consultation 

13. We also conduct our own risk assessment looking across all relevant parts of the 

Council (the “audit universe”).  This risk assessment differs from the Council’s own risk 

approach in that we consider one specific risk: 

What is the risk we offer a mistaken opinion because we don’t understand the service? 

14. There are two main parts to considering this risk.  The first how important the service 

is to the Council’s overall objectives and controls.  Here we consider: 

 

Finance Risk: The value of funds flowing through the service.  High value 

and high volume services (such as Council Tax) represent a higher risk 

than low value services with regular and predictable costs and income. 

 

Priority Risk: The strategic importance of the service in delivering 

Council priorities.  For example waste services will be higher risk owing 

to the direct link with the Council’s objectives. 

 

Support Service Risk: The extent to which other services rely on effective 

function of this part of the Council.  For example, many services have a 

strong reliance on continuing effective IT services.  

Page 56

Appendix A



MID KENT AUDIT 
   
 

7 | P a g e  
 

15. The second part is the likelihood we might hold (or gain) a mistaken view of the 

service.  Here we consider: 

 

Oversight Risk: Considering where other agencies have an interest in 

regulating and inspecting the service.  For example, Mid Kent Legal 

Services receive regular inspections from the Law Society to keep Lexcel 

accreditation and so have relatively low risk. 

 

Change Risk: Considering the extent of change the service faces, or has 

recently experienced.  This might be voluntary (a restructure, for 

example) or imposed (like new legislation). 

 

Audit Knowledge: What do we know about the service?  This considers 

not just our last formal review, but any other information we have 

gathered from, for example, following up agreed actions.  We also 

consider the currency of our knowledge, with an aim to conduct a full 

review in each service at least every five years if possible. 

 

 

Fraud Risk: The susceptibility of the service to fraud loss.  High volume 

services that deal direct with the public and handle cash, such as 

licensing for example, are higher risk. 

16. The results of these various risk assessments provide a provisional audit plan.  We 

then take this provision plan out to consultation. We meet every Head of Service, 

Director and the Chief Executive to get their perspective on our assessment and give 

us updates on their sections. 

17. Having gained a perspective on the key issues for audit attention in the coming year 

we then consider the quantity and quality of our resources. 

18. We set out the full results of the risk assessment on the audit universe in Appendix 1.  

Page 57

Appendix A



MID KENT AUDIT 
   
 

8 | P a g e  
 

Resources 

19. The audit team is in consultation phase of a planned restructure.  We aim to have the 

new structure in place by 1 April 2019. Currently, though, there is a degree of doubt 

on the precise extent and arrangement of the team.  Please see appendix II for more 

information on our restructure. 

20. However, our planning estimate for 2019/20 says we will likely have available 1,865 

days across the partnership.  This is a modest (2.5%) increase on 2018/19 total. The 

most significant variance being we are now using our new audit software, Pentana.  

We have been using Pentana now since July 2018 and ended the implementation 

phase in January 2019. We look now to its benefits in adding greater efficiency and 

quality to our work.   

21. The total number of days divides between authorities in the proportions set out in our 

collaboration agreement: 

 

Page 58

Appendix A



MID KENT AUDIT 
   
 

9 | P a g e  
 

22. Audit Standards demand we assess whether the resources available – in both quantity 

and capability – can fulfil our responsibilities.  In that assessment we must consider: 

 Whether we had enough resource to complete our prior year plan. 

 How the size and complexity of the organisation has changed. 

 How the organisation’s risk appetite and profile have changed. 

 How the organisation’s control environment has changed, including how it has 

responded to our audit findings. 

 Whether there have been significant changes to professional standards. 

23. Based solely on those internal reasons, we believe we have enough resource to deliver 

the 2019/20 plan.  There is no precise guidance on overall adequacy of internal audit 

resource.  However, as in previous years, we have reviewed provision at other 

authorities. In Kent, we show that comparison in the map above. We also compare 

resources through contacts in London Audit Group and beyond.  Through the Internal 

Audit Standards Board, we also consider comparative resourcing in central 

government, health and the private sector.  For example, the table below sets out 

research conducted by KMPG on the typical size of internal audit services in listed 

companies across the world: 

Type IA FTE IA Costs IA as % 

Revenue 

Company (<$500m turnover) 4.5 to 7.2 $613k to $819k 0.30% to 0.37% 

Company ($500m-$1b turnover) 5.0 to 7.4 $737k to $908k 0.10% to 0.13% 

T Wells BC (£72m gross cost services)1 2.5 £156k 0.22% 

 

24. We must also consider ability of the audit team.  The team as a whole now has more 

formal qualifications than ever before. Ben Davis, previously a Trainee Auditor in the 

Partnership, qualified with CIPFA in summer 2018 and three others have progressed to 

the final stage in IIA qualifications.  Appendix II sets out how our restructure aims to 

continue developing the skills of the team. 

25. Beyond direct employees, we have also sought access to sources of specialist 

expertise.  In particular, we have used this to supplement our IT audit work.  We will 

continue in 2019/20 to access this support through memberships of Framework 

agreements with audit firms managed by LB Croydon and Kent CC.  

                                                           
1
  Based on Tunbridge Wells BC’s 22% share of the partnership 

Page 59

Appendix A



MID KENT AUDIT 
   
 

10 | P a g e  
 

Proposed Audit & Assurance Work 2019/20 

26. Our audit project work comes in two distinct approaches; those that lead to assurance 

ratings and those that do not.  We usually provide a rating as shorthand to describe 

our findings and the assurance that we can offer.  See Appendix IV for the definitions 

and different levels.  However, we recognise circumstances where our work aims 

principally at supporting work in progress, or providing advice where an assurance 

rating is not right.  We complete full reports for each type and will provide summaries 

in our reporting to Members. 

27. We also undertake various other review and advice tasks over the year. However, we 

usually do not separately report work that takes under 5 days to complete or does not 

result in a single distinct report.  For example, our work supporting the Council’s risk 

management.   

28. In the tables below we set out our planned work for 2019/20.  We also provide our 

planning objectives for each project, setting out in more detail the intended scope for 

each review.  However, we will agree a precise scope with the officer Audit Sponsor 

when we come to undertake the work.  See the next section of this report for 

information on how we complete detailed planning on audit projects and work 

towards their completion.   

Proposed Audit & Assurance Project Work 2019/20 255 days 

DIRECTOR OF FINANCE, POLICY & DEVELOPMENT 

High Priority Projects (aim to complete 100% during 2019/20) 

Budget Setting 

 To consider controls around annual budget setting. 

 To review also process for identifying and monitoring savings targets. 

Economic Development 

 To consider delivery against the Economic Development Strategy and the West 

Kent Partnership 

Strategic Planning 

 To review processes for consulting on the Local Plan. 

Medium Priority Projects (aim to complete 50% during 2019/20) 

Corporate Governance 

 To review an aspect of corporate governance against applicable standards, such as 

CIPFA/SOLACE (to be confirmed in discussion with Head of Service). 

 

 

Page 60

Appendix A



MID KENT AUDIT 
   
 

11 | P a g e  
 

Medium Priority Projects (aim to complete 50% during 2019/20) 

Conservation & Heritage 

 To review controls for managing conservation and heritage aspects of planning. 

Creditors (Accounts Payable) 

 To review controls for ensuring appropriate recording and processing of accounts 

payable. 

 To consider in particular the use of purchase orders post FMS upgrade. 

Developer Contributions 

 To review controls around monitoring collection and use of developer income 

from sources such as s106 agreements. 

Members’ Allowances 

 To review controls for ensuring proper payment of Member Allowances and 

expenses. 

Member Development 

 To review arrangements for training and development of Members. 

 To consider in particular arrangements for inducting and orientation of new 

Members. 

Property Acquisition & Disposal 

 To review controls for ensuring accurate and compliant recording of properties 

acquired and disposed. 

DIRECTOR OF CHANGE & COMMUNITIES 

High Priority Projects (aim to complete 100% during 2019/20) 

Absence Management 

 To review processes for accurate recording of absences. 

 To consider arrangements aimed at minimising absence. 

Waste Collection 

 To review controls on management of new waste contract. 

Medium Priority Projects (aim to complete 50% during 2019/20) 

Environmental Enforcement 

 To review service delivery and management of income. 

Garden Waste Collection 

 To review controls for documenting garden waste income and service delivery. 

Graphical Information Services (GIS) 

 To review controls around use of GIS data. 

 To consider record keeping and management of street numbering and naming. 

Home Improvement Grants 

 To review controls for managing applications and payment. 

Page 61

Appendix A



MID KENT AUDIT 
   
 

12 | P a g e  
 

Medium Priority Projects (aim to complete 50% during 2019/20) 

Homelessness 

 Following up on any matters arising from 2018/19 work on Homelessness 

Reduction Act compliance. 

HR Policy Compliance 

 To review controls for monitoring compliance with various HR policies (sample 

selection to take place in consultation with service). 

Leisure Services 

 To review contract management in leisure services. 

Online Service Delivery 

 To review process for evaluating success in moving service delivery online. 

Parks 

 To review controls for accurate recording of parks income. 

Safety Partnerships 

 To review controls for ensuring service delivery within the Community Safety Unit. 

Staff Performance Management 

 To review controls managing the staff appraisal process. 

MID KENT SERVICES DIRECTOR 

High Priority Projects (aim to complete 100% during 2019/20) 

IT Network Security 

 To consider arrangements for securing the Council’s IT networks, with possible 

particular emphasis on cloud computing and other third party arrangements. 

IT Technical Support 

 To consider processes for supporting IT use in the Council. 

 To also consider rollout of specific developments, such as Windows 365. 

Universal Credit 

 To review controls managing the Council’s work in supporting Universal Credit 

rollout in the borough. 

Medium Priority Projects (aim to complete 50% during 2019/20) 

Council Tax 

 To consider arrangements for Council Tax billing. 

 To consider particularly controls around increasing digitalisation of applications. 

Discretionary Housing Payments 

 To review processing DHP claims, including consistency in decision making. 

IT Asset Management 

 To review controls on asset management, especially tracking and security for 

portable devices. 

Page 62

Appendix A



MID KENT AUDIT 
   
 

13 | P a g e  
 

Medium Priority Projects (aim to complete 50% during 2019/20) 

IT Backup & Recovery 

 To review controls for periodic IT backups and test arrangements for recovery. 

IT Project Management 

 To review how IT supports services in delivering projects, including managing its 

workload. 

Planning Administration 

 To examine controls for income collection and reconciliation. 

 

Proposed Assurance Non-Project Work 2019/20 115 days 
Risk 

 Updating and reviewing Risk Framework 

 Regular monitoring and reporting to Senior Officers and Members 

 Review of risk identification and reporting within project management 

 Member briefings, especially for new Members in 2019 

Counter Fraud 

 General Policy and Advice, including Whistleblowing and Anti-Corruption 

 Fraud Risk Assessment, focusing on payroll and expenses 

 Incident specific advice, support and reactive investigation 

 Training and development, including for new Members in 2019.  Potential subject 

of focus being on Bribery Act 2010 duties. 

Member Support 

 Attendance and preparation for Audit & Governance Committee and other 

Members’ meetings (including Chairman’s briefings). 

 Developing and presenting Member briefings on governance issues. 

Agreed Actions Follow Up 

 Ensuring officers carry out actions as agreed. 

 Reporting progress towards implementation to Senior Officers and Members. 

 

Audit Planning 

 Keeping the 2019/20 plan and attendant risk assessments under review. 

 Developing audit planning for 2020/21 and beyond. 

  

Page 63

Appendix A



MID KENT AUDIT 
   
 

14 | P a g e  
 

Proposed Unallocated Contingency 2019/20 40 days 
Consultancy 

 We aim to keep around 10% of audit days as a consultancy fund to provide general 

and extra advice to the Council. 

 This will include attendance and contribution to officer groups and expansions to 

audit scopes to cover particular concerns or interests. 

 It also covers any investigative work we undertake.  We are named in the Council’s 

whistleblowing, data protection and computer use policies as a potential 

investigator of matters referred to us. 

  

Page 64

Appendix A



MID KENT AUDIT 
   
 

15 | P a g e  
 

Delivering the Audit & Assurance Plan 

29. We work in full conformance with the Public Sector Internal Standards.  This includes 

having an internal quality assessment approach comprising both specific review of 

individual projects and periodic ‘cold review’, looking back at completed work and 

taking forward learning to help us improve.   

Overseeing Delivery 

30. We will report progress on delivering the plan to this Committee part-way through the 

year.  We are also part of the Mid Kent Services Directorate and overseen by a Shared 

Services Board, with Lee Colyer (Director of Finance, Policy & Development) as 

Tunbridge Wells’ representative. 

31. We also report each month on various performance indicators detailing our progress 

and provide updates through to the Management Board.  We include a listing of those 

indicators, with descriptions, at appendix III to this plan. 

Quality & Improvement Plan 

32. Although in 2015 the IIA assessed us as fully conforming to the Standards, we have 

continued to challenge and update how we work.  Through these types of review we 

have kept our full conformance with the Standards and increased productive days by 

nearly 20% since 2015 without any more than inflationary budget increase. 

33. We successfully set up our new Audit Management Software – Pentana – during 

2018/19.  The whole team now use Pentana to deliver our work and we can see the 

benefits already in quality and efficiency.  There is also a significant improvement in 

how we can manage and organise our planning. For example, Pentana supports 

comprehensive risk assessments set out in Appendix I. We also have a greater capacity 

to ‘prioritise’ subjects to allow more flexibility as plans change through the year. 

34. For 2019/20 our focus for quality and improvement will be on: 

 Continuing to support and strengthen the team’s use and understanding of 

Pentana’s audit approach, especially its consistent focus on an Objective -> Risk -> 

Control -> Test method.  Over time, following this approach will deliver a 

comprehensive understanding of the control environment across the whole 

authority and lead to significant efficiencies in planning future work. 

 

Page 65

Appendix A



MID KENT AUDIT 
   
 

16 | P a g e  
 

 Exploring how best to open Pentana to officers outside audit.  The software has a 

web module that allows officers outside audit to pass information to us direct, for 

instance updates on progress towards carrying out agreed actions.  We hope to pilot 

some methods for rolling out this feature during 2019/20, mindful of the need to be 

efficient in our call on officers’ time as well as effective management of audit 

resources. 

 Considering how to continue improving our reporting.  Pentana allows for many 

different variants of our reporting tailored suitably to different audiences.  In 

2019/20 we will explore how we can efficiently use this flexibility to make our 

reporting have maximum impact in supporting services to improve. 

External Quality Assessment 

35. Public Sector Internal Audit Standard 1312 demands we undergo an external 

assessment at least every five years.  The IIA undertook our last assessment, in spring 

2015, that reported Mid Kent Audit as fully conforming to the Standards.  This means 

our next review must take place by spring 2020.  The full text of the Standard is below: 

 

Page 66

Appendix A



MID KENT AUDIT 
   
 

17 | P a g e  
 

36. The Standard, and our Charter, both highlight the role of the “Board” (this Committee) 

in oversight of the assessment. Specific responsibility for its arrangement rests with 

the Head of Audit. 

37. We will set out specific proposals for the assessment later in the year.  Currently, our 

plan considers the following principles.   

 We will seek a properly qualified external assessor for the review with experience of 

reviewing similar audit services. 

 We will buy the assessment for payment rather than seeking to enter any reciprocal 

or peer arrangement.  We feel this is important to safeguard the independence and 

professionalism of the review. 

 We will ask the assessor to consider best practice rather than simple conformance.  

This will give us a sense of where we stand on quality compared to the best of our 

peers. It will also point to improvements we can look into to develop the service. 

 We will seek one assessment across the whole partnership rather than individual 

assessments for each authority. 

 We will publish a terms of reference for the assessment to Members before 

fieldwork. 

 We will publish the final report of the assessment in full to Members.  We will 

include in that publication any action plan proposed by the assessors and our 

response. 

38. We welcome comments from Members on these principles and any specific matters of 

focus we might consider.

Page 67

Appendix A



MID KENT AUDIT 
   
 

18 | P a g e  
 

Appendix I: Audit Universe 

The “Audit Universe” is our running record of all services at the Council we might examine.  

The list below shows its current arrangement including details of previous reviews. 

Area Risk Score Last Audit Due Strat Risk 

Top Priority: We aim to complete all of these during 2019/20 

Absence Management High    

Budget Setting Moderate    

Economic Development High 2016/17 Due  

IT Network Security High 2018/19 Due  

IT Tech Support High 2014/15 Overdue  

Strategic Planning Moderate    

Universal Credit High    

Waste Collection High    

Medium Priority: We aim to complete around half of these during 2019/20 

Conservation & Heritage Moderate 2015/16 Due  

Corporate Governance High 2016/17 Due  

Council Tax Moderate 2016/17 Due  
Creditors (Accounts Payable) Moderate 2016/17 Overdue  

Developer Income Moderate 2013/14 Overdue  

Discretionary Housing Payments Moderate 2016/17 Due  
Environmental Enforcement Moderate    

Garden Waste Collection High    

Graphical Information (GIS) Low    

Home Improvement Grants Moderate 2016/17 Due  
Homelessness High 2018/19 Due  

HR Policy Compliance High    

IT Asset Management Moderate 2014/15 Due  
IT Backup & Recovery High 2017/18 Due  

IT Project Management High 2014/15 Due  

Leisure Services Low 2013/14 Overdue  
Member Development Moderate    

Members’ Allowances Low 2016/17 Due  

Online Services Low    

Parks Low 2015/16 Due  
Planning Administration Moderate 2017/18 Due  

Property Acquisition & Disposal Moderate    

Safety Partnerships Moderate    

Staff Performance Management Moderate    

Page 68

Appendix A



MID KENT AUDIT 
   
 

19 | P a g e  
 

Area Risk Score Last Audit Due Strat Risk 

Low Priority: Keep under review but not likely to undertake further work in 2019/20 

Budgetary Control Moderate 2013/14 Due  
Business Continuity Moderate 2016/17 Not Due  
Business Rates Moderate 2017/18 Not Due  

Car Parks Moderate 2017/18 Not Due  
Communications Moderate    
Corporate Governance Low 2017/18 Not Due  

Council Tax Reduction Scheme Moderate 2018/19 Not Due  
Customer Services Moderate 2016/17 Due  

Debt Recovery Service High 2018/19 Not Due  

Debtors Moderate 2016/17 Not Due  
Electoral Registration Low    

Equalities Moderate    

General Ledger Moderate 2016/17 Due  

Housing Benefit Moderate 2016/17 Due  
Housing Incentives High 2017/18 Not Due  

Leaseholders Moderate    
Marketing Moderate 2016/17 Not Due  
Museum Low 2014/15 Due  

Parking Income High 2017/18 Not Due  

Performance Management Low 2015/16 Due  

Planning Enforcement Moderate    
Property Income Moderate 2015/16 Due  

Project Management High 2017/18 Not Due  

Public Consultations Moderate    

Residents’ Parking Moderate 2016/17 Not Due  
Social Media Low    
Subsidiary Co. Governance Moderate    

Tourism Support Moderate    

Training & Development Moderate 2016/17 Due  

Treasury Management Moderate 2016/17 Not Due  
Waste Collection High 2018/19 Not Due  

Website Management Moderate    

Workforce Planning Moderate    

  

Page 69

Appendix A



MID KENT AUDIT 
   
 

20 | P a g e  
 

Very Low Priority: Recent assurance gained and no fresh risk indicated 

CCTV Low 2018/19 Not Due  

Cemeteries & Crematoria Low 2017/18 Not Due  

Community Support Low 2018/19 Not Due  

Complaint Handling Low 2016/17 Not Due  

Contract Management Moderate 2018/19 Not Due  

Customer Services Low 2018/19 Not Due  

Elections Management Low 2018/19 Not Due  

Emergency Planning Moderate 2018/19 Not Due  

Grounds Maintenance Low 2016/17 Not Due  

Health & Safety Low 2016/17 Not Due  

Insurance Moderate 2018/19 Not Due  

Parking Income Moderate 2017/18 Not Due  

Payroll & Expenses Low 2018/19 Not Due  

Pre-Application Planning Moderate 2018/19 Not Due  

Procurement & Commissioning Moderate 2018/19 Not Due  

Safeguarding Moderate 2016/17 Not Due  
Theatre Operations Low 2018/19 Not Due  

 

 

 

Page 70

Appendix A



MID KENT AUDIT 
   
 

21 | P a g e  
 

Appendix II: Audit Team and Restructure 

We are proud in the Audit team of having a strong record in supporting development and 

achievement within our team.  With that in mind we periodically revisit arrangements to 

ensure we, for now and the future, are set up to continue delivering an efficient and 

effective service.  We are therefore currently consulting on a restructure proposal that aims 

to: 

 Give more supervising and mentoring opportunities to our Senior Auditors. This will 

both support junior staff and make the role a better development step towards 

management for those with that ambition. 

 Create Audit Apprentice roles, linked to the Level 7 Internal Audit Professional 

Scheme recently approved by the Department for Education.  This scheme, which 

lasts up to four years, eventually provides apprentices with all the professional 

qualifications they would need to rise to Head of Audit level as well as a Master’s 

degree in Audit & Consultancy. 

 Create an annual pool of funds we can use flexibly to support different needs at 

partner authorities.  This could be used, for instance, in securing specialist audit 

support on key projects. It could support authorities in delivering savings targets. Or 

get specific training to help existing members of the audit team. 

The consultation period ends mid-March with new arrangements in place from the start of 

2019/20.  We will report to Members on results, and details of our new structure, in our 

annual reporting this coming June. 

  

Page 71

Appendix A



MID KENT AUDIT 
   
 

22 | P a g e  
 

Appendix III: Performance Indicators 

We are consulting on new performance indicators for 2019/20.  Our proposed indicators for 

reporting are: 

Training Take-Up 

We recognise the success of our service is down to the quality of our people.  The Council’s 

working environment, its risks and the practice of professional audit keeps changing and we 

support and encourage our team to continue developing new skills. 

We expect each person to devote a minimum 5% of their time to training and development, 

along a plan agreed with their line manager.  This indicator measures how well people can 

take up and complete that training plan. 

Overall Plan Progress 

Each audit plan promises a certain number of days productive audit work to each authority.  

This indicator measures how many productive days we have delivered against that plan 

target. 

Audit Feedback (Quantitative) 

Feedback from audit sponsors and others is a key indicator in letting us know how well our 

service meets the needs of each Council.  This quantitative measure records a simple 

‘satisfied/dissatisfied’ from key stakeholders for each audit report.  It sits alongside a 

broader range of qualitative measures giving us more detailed feedback. 

Prompt Reporting 

Effective findings describe the world as it is now.  Undue delay limits how much our findings 

can help the Council improve or add risk with issues unaddressed. 

This indicator measures the time between completion of our fieldwork and issue of the final 

report.  So it includes both the time spent on the audit side creating a draft report and the 

service side in framing its response.  We typically aim to get from fieldwork to final report in 

30 days. 

  

Page 72

Appendix A



MID KENT AUDIT 
   
 

23 | P a g e  
 

Appendix IV: Assurance Ratings 

Assurance Ratings 2019/20 (unchanged since 2014/15) 

Full Definition Short Description 

Strong – Controls within the service are well designed and operating as 

intended, exposing the service to no uncontrolled risk.  There will also 

often be elements of good practice or value for money efficiencies 

which may be instructive to other authorities.  Reports with this rating 

will have few, if any, recommendations and those will generally be 

priority 4. 

Service/system is 

performing well 

Sound – Controls within the service are generally well designed and 

operated but there are some opportunities for improvement, 

particularly with regard to efficiency or to address less significant 

uncontrolled operational risks.  Reports with this rating will have some 

priority 3 and 4 recommendations, and occasionally priority 2 

recommendations where they do not speak to core elements of the 

service. 

Service/system is 

operating effectively 

Weak – Controls within the service have deficiencies in their design 

and/or operation that leave it exposed to uncontrolled operational risk 

and/or failure to achieve key service aims.  Reports with this rating will 

have mainly priority 2 and 3 recommendations which will often 

describe weaknesses with core elements of the service. 

Service/system requires 

support to consistently 

operate effectively 

Poor – Controls within the service are deficient to the extent that the 

service is exposed to actual failure or significant risk and these failures 

and risks are likely to affect the Council as a whole. Reports with this 

rating will have priority 1 and/or a range of priority 2 

recommendations which, taken together, will or are preventing from 

achieving its core objectives. 

Service/system is not 

operating effectively 

 

Page 73

Appendix A



MID KENT AUDIT 
   
 

24 | P a g e  
 

Recommendation Ratings 2019/20 (unchanged since 2014/15) 

Priority 1 (Critical) – To address a finding which affects (negatively) the risk rating assigned to a 

Council strategic risk or seriously impairs its ability to achieve a key priority.  Priority 1 

recommendations are likely to require immediate remedial action.  Priority 1 recommendations also 

describe actions the authority must take without delay. 

Priority 2 (High) – To address a finding which impacts a strategic risk or key priority, which makes 

achievement of the Council’s aims more challenging but not necessarily cause severe impediment.  

This would also normally be the priority assigned to recommendations that address a finding that 

the Council is in (actual or potential) breach of a legal responsibility, unless the consequences of 

non-compliance are severe. Priority 2 recommendations are likely to require remedial action at the 

next available opportunity, or as soon as is practical.  Priority 2 recommendations also describe 

actions the authority must take. 

Priority 3 (Medium) – To address a finding where the Council is in (actual or potential) breach of its 

own policy or a less prominent legal responsibility but does not impact directly on a strategic risk or 

key priority.  There will often be mitigating controls that, at least to some extent, limit impact.  

Priority 3 recommendations are likely to require remedial action within six months to a year.  Priority 

3 recommendations describe actions the authority should take. 

Priority 4 (Low) – To address a finding where the Council is in (actual or potential) breach of its own 

policy but no legal responsibility and where there is trivial, if any, impact on strategic risks or key 

priorities.  There will usually be mitigating controls to limit impact.  Priority 4 recommendations are 

likely to require remedial action within the year.  Priority 4 recommendations generally describe 

actions the authority could take. 

Advisory – We will include in the report notes drawn from our experience across the partner 

authorities where the service has opportunities to improve.  These will be included for the service to 

consider and not be subject to formal follow up process. 

 

Page 74

Appendix A



 

Audit and Governance 
Committee 

2 April 2019 

Is the final decision on the recommendations in this report to be made at this meeting? Yes 

 

External Audit Plan 
 

Final Decision-Maker Audit and Governance Committee 

Portfolio Holder(s)  Cllr. David Reilly 

Lead Director  Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and 
Development 

Head of Service Jane Fineman, Head of Finance and Procurement 

Lead Officer/Report Author Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and 
Development 

Classification Non-exempt 

Wards affected All 

  

This report makes the following recommendation(s) to the final decision-maker: 

1. That the Audit and Governance Committee consider and agree the appended audit 
plan. 

  

This report relates to the following Five Year Plan Key Objectives: 

 A Prosperous Borough 

 A Confident Borough 

  

Timetable  

Meeting Date 

Management Board 13 March 2019  

Discussion with Portfolio Holder 11 March 2019 

Page 75

Agenda Item 9



 

External Audit Plan 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report outlines the audit work that the external auditor, Grant Thornton, 

propose to undertake for the audit of the 2018/19 financial statements and the 
value for money assessment.  

 
1.2 The report also includes the outcome of the certification work for the Housing 

Benefit subsidy claim for 2017/18. 
 

 
2. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Under the 2015 Accounts and Audit Regulations local authorities are required to 

publish their accounts along with the auditor’s opinion by 31 July 2019.  
 
2.2 The audit of the financial statements is planned on a risk-based approach and 

reflects: 
 

 Audit work specified by the external auditor; 

 Current national risks relevant to local circumstances; and 

 The Council’s local risks. 
 

2.3 The National Audit Office has issued a document entitled Code of Audit Practice 
which summaries the responsibilities of the auditor and the audited body. 

 
2.4 The audit work will be undertaken in compliance with the statutory requirements 

governing audit work, in particular: 
 

 The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014; 

 International Standard on Auditing (UK & Ireland) 260; and 

 The Code of Audit Practice for Local Authorities. 
 

2.5 At the conclusion of the audit the external auditor will issue an audit report 
giving an opinion on whether the accounts give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the Council as at 31 March 2019. 

 
2.6 A copy of the audit plan is attached as an appendix to this report. The proposed 

fees are £39,447 (previous year £51,230) for the financial statement and 
£12,144 for the grant certification plus £10,000 for additional testing. 

 

Results of the 2017/18 Certification Work 
 

2.7 Grant Thornton certified the Housing Benefit subsidy claim for the financial year 
2017/18 relating to subsidy claimed of £33.7 million. Four issues have been 
highlighted arising from the certification work which resulted in additional 
sample testing. Due the errors identified the claim was qualified along with all 

Page 76

Agenda Item 9



 

those of other district councils in Kent in accordance with the DWP’s 
methodology. Further details are set out in Appendix B.  

 

 
3. AVAILABLE OPTIONS 
 
3.1 The Audit and Governance Committee could choose not to accept the proposed 

audit plan.  
 

 
4. PREFERRED OPTION AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 The audit plan sets out the audit work proposed by the external auditors for the 

audit of the 2018/19 financial statements. 
 

4.2 The Audit and Governance Committee’s function and delegations, as outlined in 
its constitution and terms of reference state, that it should: 

 

 agree the external audit plan for the year; 

 approve the cost of the audit; 

 consider specific reports as agreed with the external audit work and      
ensure it gives value for money; and 

 comment on the scope and depth of external audit work to ensure it gives 
value for money. 

 

 
5. CONSULTATION RESULTS AND PREVIOUS COMMITTEE FEEDBACK 
 
5.1 The external auditor has consulted with the Chief Executive and the Director of 

Finance, Policy and Development. The Audit and Governance Committee is 
now being asked for their approval.  

 

 
6. NEXT STEPS: COMMUNICATION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF THE 

DECISION 
 
6.1 This report will be published on the Council’s website and the Committee will 

consider the delivery of the audit plan as part of the audit findings report once 
the financial statements have been completed. 

 

 
7. CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES AND IMPLICATIONS 
 

Issue Implications Sign-off 

(name of officer 
and date) 

Legal including 
Human Rights Act 

The Audit and Governance Committee has a legal 
obligation for the Council’s governance 
arrangements.  

Lee Colyer, 
Director of 
Finance, Policy 
and Development Finance and other The areas that are assessed form a significant 

part of the workload of the Finance Section.  

Page 77

Agenda Item 9



 

resources 5 March 2019  

Staffing 
establishment 

There are no new staffing implications. 

Risk management   This is assessed as part of the value for money 
conclusion. 

Environment  
and sustainability 

There are no new environmental implications. 

Data Protection There are no new data protection implications 

Community safety 

 

There are no new community safety implications. 

Health and Safety There are no new health and safety implications. 

Health and 
wellbeing 

There are no new health and wellbeing 
implications. 

Equalities There are no new equalities implications. 

 
8. REPORT APPENDICES 
 
The following document is to be published with this report and forms part of the 
report: 

 Appendix A: Grant Thornton’s Audit Plan 2018/19 

 Appendix B: Outcome of certification work for 2017/18 
 

 
9. BACKGROUND PAPERS  
 
None 

Page 78

Agenda Item 9



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Tunbridge Wells Borough  Council |  2018/19

External Audit Plan
Year ending 31 March 2019

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

31 January 2019

P
age 79

A
ppendix A



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Tunbridge Wells Borough  Council |  2018/19 2

Contents

Section Page

1. Introduction & headlines 3

2. Key matters impacting our audit approach                                                                                    4

3. Significant risks identified 5

4. Other matters 7

5. Materiality 8

6. Value for Money arrangements 9

9. Audit logistics, team & fees              10

10. Independence & non-audit services 11

The contents of this report relate only to the matters which have come to our attention, which we believe need to be reported to you as part of our audit planning process. It is not a
comprehensive record of all the relevant matters, which may be subject to change, and in particular we cannot be held responsible to you for reporting all of the risks which may affect the
Authority or all weaknesses in your internal controls. This report has been prepared solely for your benefit and should not be quoted in whole or in part without our prior written consent.
We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report was not prepared for,
nor intended for, any other purpose.

Your key Grant Thornton 
team members are:

Elizabeth Jackson

Engagement Lead

T:  020 7728 3329

E: Elizabeth.L.Jackson@uk.gt.com

Ade Oyerinde

Senior Manager

T: 020 7728 3332

E: Ade.O.Oyerinde@uk.gt.com

Hazel Strudwick

In-Charge Auditor

T: 01293 554035

E: Hazel.J.Strudwick@uk.gt.com

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: 30 Finsbury Square, London, EC2A 1AG. A list of members 
is available from our registered office.  Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant 
Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and its member firms are not agents 
of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.

P
age 80

A
ppendix A



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Tunbridge Wells Borough  Council |  2018/19 3

Introduction & headlines
Purpose

This document provides an overview of the planned scope and timing of the statutory
audit of the Tunbridge Wells Borough Council (‘you’ or ‘the Council’) for those
charged with governance.

Respective responsibilities

The National Audit Office (‘the NAO’) has issued a document entitled Code of Audit
Practice (‘the Code’). This summarises where the responsibilities of auditors begin
and end and what is expected from the audited body. Our respective responsibilities
are also set out in the Terms of Appointment and Statement of Responsibilities
issued by Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA), the body responsible for
appointing us as your auditor. We draw your attention to both of these documents on
the PSAA website.

Scope of our audit

The scope of our audit is set in accordance with the Code and International Standards on
Auditing (ISAs) (UK). We are responsible for forming and expressing an opinion on:

 the financial statements that have been prepared by management with the oversight of
those charged with governance (the Audit and Governance Committee); and

 your Value for Money arrangements in place for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in your use of resources.

The audit of the financial statements does not relieve management or the Audit and
Governance Committee of your responsibilities. It is your responsibility to ensure that proper
arrangements are in place for the conduct of your business, and that public money is
safeguarded and properly accounted for. We have considered how you are fulfilling these
responsibilities.

Our audit approach is based on a thorough understanding of your business and is risk based.

Significant risks Those risks requiring special audit consideration and procedures to address the likelihood of a material financial statement error have been identified as:

 the risk of management over-ride of controls

 the risk the valuation of land and buildings in the accounts is materially misstated

 the risk the valuation of the pension fund net liability in the accounts is materially misstated.

We will communicate significant findings on these areas as well as any other significant matters arising from the audit to you in our Audit Findings (ISA 260) 
Report.

Materiality We have determined planning materiality to be £1.4 million, which equates to 2% of your prior year gross expenditure for the year. We are obliged to report 
uncorrected omissions or misstatements other than those which are ‘clearly trivial’ to those charged with governance. Clearly trivial has been set at £71k.

Value for Money 
arrangements

Our risk assessment regarding your arrangements to secure value for money have identified the following VFM significant risk:

• Brexit

We will continue our review of your arrangements, including reviewing your Annual Governance Statement, before we issue our auditor’s report.

Audit logistics Our interim visit will take place between February and March 2019 and our final visit will take place in June 2019.  Our key deliverables are this Audit Plan and 
our Audit Findings Report.

Our fee for the audit will be £39,447 (PY: £51,230), subject to the Council meeting our requirements set out on page 10.

Independence We have complied with the Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered person, confirm that we are independent and 
are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements..

P
age 81

A
ppendix A



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Tunbridge Wells Borough  Council |  2018/19 4

Key matters impacting our audit of the Council
External Factors Internal Factors

.

The wider economy and political uncertainty

Tunbridge Wells has consistently been in a stronger financial 
position than most other authorities and this is not expected 
to change in 2018/19. However pressures are not likely to 
ease in coming years, particularly as further reductions in 
government funding impacts on the medium term financial 
strategy. Your 5 year budget projections to 2024/25  forecast 
a combined gap of £1.1 million largely as a result of the 
impact of the funding review and inflationary pressures.

Your medium term financial strategy (MTFS) is to maintain 
an adequate level of reserves at £4 million (revenue and 
capital reserves). Additionally, your MTFS includes 
earmarked reserves available to fund specific projects and 
activities. The earmarked reserve is forecast to reduce from 
£19.9 million as at 1 April 2018 to £10.1 million as at 31 
March 2019.

You recognise the need for partnership working, you 
continue to develop joined-up service with other Kent district 
through the Mid-Kent Partnership and recently collaborated 
with other Kent districts on a contract for household waste 
and recycling collection and street cleansing.

 We will consider your arrangements for managing and reporting your financial resources as part of our work in reaching our Value for Money conclusion.
 We will consider whether your financial position leads to material uncertainty about the going concern and will review related disclosures in the financial statements. 
 We will discuss with you any recommendations arising from our work and will monitor implementation of any action points.

 We will ensure that our resources and testing are best directed to address your risks in an effective way.

 We will keep you informed of changes to the financial  reporting requirements for 2018/19 through on-going discussions and invitations to our technical update workshops.

 As part of our opinion on your financial statements, we will consider whether your financial statements reflect the financial reporting changes in the 2018/19 CIPFA Code.

New accounting standards 
effective 2018/19 

The 2018-19 financial year 
will be the first year in which 
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments 
and IFRS 15: Revenue From 
Contracts with Customers will 
come into effect. 

Interpretation of the effects of 
these new standards has 
been set out in the publicly 
available Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting in 
the United Kingdom for 2018-
19.

Accounting policies, 
transactions, and balances 
presented in the 2018-19 
financial statements will need 
to appropriately reflect the 
provisions of IFRS 9 and 15 
as interpreted by the Code.

Brexit

With the UK due to leave the European 
Union on 29 March 2019, there will be 
national and local implications resulting 
from Brexit that will impact on the 
Council. You will need to review your 
workforce plans,  analyse your supply 
chains and model potential impacts on 
your finances, including investment and 
borrowing as well as any potential impact 
on the valuation of Council assets.

Audit tools

We will be making comprehensive use of 
the ‘Inflo’ audit management tool 
throughout the audit. This tool has 
already been introduced to your financial 
reporting team and will be rolled out fully 
for the interim and final accounts visits.

Our response

Change and transformation

The Council is progressing with its 
proposals for Calverley Square 
Development, plans include 
provision of a new theatre, new 
offices (commercial and council) 
and parking facilities to support 
the new developments. The 
overall development cost for the 
scheme is £90 million. You  
commenced work on the detailed 
design (RIBA Stage 4 and 
management continues to provide 
Cabinet with regular updates on 
project developments.

P
age 82

A
ppendix A



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Tunbridge Wells Borough  Council |  2018/19 5

Significant risks identified
Significant risks are defined by ISAs (UK) as risks that, in the judgement of the auditor, require special audit consideration. In identifying risks, audit teams consider the nature of the risk, 
the potential magnitude of misstatement, and its likelihood. Significant risks are those risks that have a higher risk of material misstatement.

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

ISA240 revenue risk Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a rebuttable presumed risk that revenue may be misstated due to the improper recognition of revenue.
This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor concludes that there is no risk of material misstatement due to fraud relating to revenue recognition.

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature of your revenue streams, we have determined that the risk of fraud arising from 
revenue recognition can be rebutted, because:

 there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition

 opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited

 the culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, you, mean that all forms of fraud are seen as unacceptable

Therefore we do not consider this to be a significant risk.

Management over-ride of 
controls

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a non-rebuttable presumed risk 
that the risk of management over-ride of controls is present in 
all entities. You face external scrutiny of your spending and 
this could potentially place management under undue 
pressure in terms of how they report performance.

We therefore identified management override of control, in 
particular journals, management estimates and transactions 
outside the normal course of business, as a significant risk of 
material misstatement.

We will:

 the design effectiveness of management controls over journals

 analyse the journals listing and determine the criteria for selecting high risk unusual 
journals 

 test unusual journals recorded during the year and after the draft accounts stage for 
appropriateness and corroboration

 gain an understanding of the accounting estimates and critical  judgements applied 
made by management and consider their reasonableness with regard to corroborative 
evidence

 evaluate the rationale for any changes in accounting policies, estimates or significant 
unusual transactions.

P
age 83

A
ppendix A



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Tunbridge Wells Borough  Council |  2018/19 6

Significant risks identified - continued
Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

Valuation of land and 
buildings

the risk the valuation of 
land and buildings in the 
accounts is materially 
misstated

You revalue your land and buildings on a rolling five-yearly 
basis. This valuation represents a significant estimate by 
management in the financial statements due to the size of the 
numbers involved (£102 million covering Land and Buildings 
as at 31 March 2018) and the sensitivity of this estimate to 
changes in key assumptions.

Additionally, you need to ensure that the carrying value in 
your financial statements is not materially different from the 
current value or the fair value (for surplus assets) at the 
financial statements date, for assets which have not been 
revalued in any given year.

We therefore identified valuation of land and buildings,
particularly revaluations and impairments, as a significant risk
of material misstatement

We will:

 evaluate management's processes and assumptions for the calculation of the estimate,
the instructions issued to valuation experts and the scope of their work

 evaluate the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the valuation expert

 write to the valuer to confirm the basis on which the valuation was carried out

 challenge the information and assumptions used by the valuer to assess completeness
and consistency with our understanding

 test revaluations made during the year to ensure that they have been input correctly
into your asset register

 evaluate the assumptions made by management for those assets not revalued during 
the year and how management has satisfied themselves that these are not materially 
different to current value at year end.

Valuation of the pension 
fund net liability

the risk the valuation of the 
pension fund net liability in 
the accounts is materially 
misstated

Your pension fund net liability, as reflected in the balance 
sheet as the net defined benefit liability, represents a 
significant estimate in the financial statements. 

The pension fund net liability is considered a significant 
estimate due to the size of the numbers involved (£60 million 
in the balance sheet as at 31 March 2018) and the sensitivity 
of the estimate to changes in key assumptions.

We therefore identified valuation of your pension fund net 
liability as a significant risk of material misstatement.

We will:

 gain an understanding of the processes and controls put in place by management to 
ensure that the pension fund net liability is not materially misstated and evaluate the 
design of the associated controls;

 evaluate the instructions issued by management to their management expert (an 
actuary) for this estimate and the scope of the actuary’s work;

 assess the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the actuary who carried out the 
pension fund valuation; 

 assess the accuracy and completeness of the information provided to the actuary to 
estimate the liability;

 test the consistency of the pension fund asset and liability and disclosures in the notes 
to the core financial statements with the actuarial report from the actuary;

 undertake procedures to confirm the reasonableness of the actuarial assumptions 
made by reviewing the report of the consulting actuary (as auditor’s expert) and 
performing any additional procedures suggested within the report; and

 obtain assurances from auditors of Kent County Council Pension Fund as to the 
controls surrounding the validity and accuracy of membership data; contributions data 
and benefits data sent to the actuary by the pension fund and the fund assets valuation 
in the pension fund financial statements.

P
age 84

A
ppendix A



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Tunbridge Wells Borough  Council |  2018/19 7

Other matters

Other work

In addition to our responsibilities under the Code of Practice, we have a number of other
audit responsibilities, as follows:

 We read your Narrative Report, Annual Governance Statement and any other 
information published alongside your financial statements to check that they are 
consistent with the financial statements on which we give an opinion and consistent 
with our knowledge your circumstances.

 We carry out work to satisfy ourselves that disclosures made in your Annual 
Governance Statement are in line with the guidance issued by CIPFA.

 We carry out work on your consolidation schedules for the Whole of Government 
Accounts process in accordance with NAO group audit instructions.

 We consider our other duties under legislation and the Code, as and when required, 
including:

 Giving electors the opportunity to raise questions about your 2018/19 
financial statements, consider and decide upon any objections received in 
relation to the 2018/19 financial statements;

 issue of a report in the public interest or written recommendations to the 
Authority under section 24 of the Act, copied to the Secretary of State.

 Application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary 
to law under Section 28 or for a judicial review under Section 31 of the Act; 
or

 Issuing an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Act.

 We certify completion of our audit.

Other material balances and transactions

Under International Standards on Auditing, "irrespective of the assessed risks of material
misstatement, the auditor shall design and perform substantive procedures for each
material class of transactions, account balance and disclosure". All other material
balances and transaction streams will therefore be audited. However, the procedures will
not be as extensive as the procedures adopted for the risks identified in this report.

Going concern

As auditors, we are required to “obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the
appropriateness of management's use of the going concern assumption in the
preparation and presentation of the financial statements and to conclude whether there is
a material uncertainty about your ability to continue as a going concern” (ISA (UK) 570).
We will review management's assessment of the going concern assumption and evaluate
the disclosures in the financial statements.

P
age 85

A
ppendix A



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Tunbridge Wells Borough  Council |  2018/19 8

Materiality

The concept of materiality

The concept of materiality is fundamental to the preparation of the financial statements
and the audit process and applies not only to the monetary misstatements but also to
disclosure requirements and adherence to acceptable accounting practice and
applicable law. Misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if
they, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

Materiality for planning purposes

We have determined financial statement materiality based on a proportion of your gross
expenditure for the financial year. In the prior year we used the same benchmark.
Materiality at the planning stage of our audit is £1.4 Million, which equates to 2% of your
prior year gross expenditure for the year.

We reconsider planning materiality if, during the course of our audit engagement, we
become aware of facts and circumstances that would have caused us to make a
different determination of planning materiality.

Matters we will report to the Audit and Governance Committee

Whilst our audit procedures are designed to identify misstatements which are material to
our opinion on the financial statements as a whole, we nevertheless report to the Audit
and Governance Committee any unadjusted misstatements of lesser amounts to the
extent that these are identified by our audit work. Under ISA 260 (UK) ‘Communication
with those charged with governance’, we are obliged to report uncorrected omissions or
misstatements other than those which are ‘clearly trivial’ to those charged with
governance. ISA 260 (UK) defines ‘clearly trivial’ as matters that are clearly
inconsequential, whether taken individually or in aggregate and whether judged by any
quantitative or qualitative criteria. Considering your context, we propose that an
individual difference could normally be considered to be clearly trivial if it is less than
£71k.

If management have corrected material misstatements identified during the course of
the audit, we will consider whether those corrections should be communicated to the
Audit and Governance Committee to assist it in fulfilling its governance responsibilities.

Prior year gross expenditure

£71,774k Materiality

Prior year gross expenditure

Materiality

£1,400k (PY: £1,380k)

Financial statements 
materiality

£71k (PY: £70k)

Misstatements reported 
to the Audit and 
Governance Committee

P
age 86

A
ppendix A



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Tunbridge Wells Borough  Council |  2018/19 9

Value for Money arrangements

Background to our VFM approach

The NAO issued its guidance for auditors on Value for Money work in November 2017. The
guidance states that for Local Government bodies, auditors are required to give a
conclusion on whether the Authority has proper arrangements in place to secure value for
money.

The guidance identifies one single criterion for auditors to evaluate:

“In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions and deploys
resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people.”

This is supported by three sub-criteria, as set out below:

Significant VFM risks

Those risks requiring audit consideration and procedures to address the likelihood that 
proper arrangements are not in place at the Authority to deliver value for money.

Informed 
decision 
making

Sustainable 
resource 

deployment

Working 
with partners 
& other third 

parties

Value for 
Money 

arrangements 
criteria

Brexit

With the UK due to leave the European Union on 29 March 2019, there will be
national and local implications resulting from Brexit that will impact on you,
which you will need to plan for.

We will review your arrangements and plans to mitigate any risks on Brexit.
Our review will focus on areas such as workforce planning, supply chain
analysis, regulatory impact and impacts on finances including investments.

P
age 87

A
ppendix A



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Tunbridge Wells Borough  Council |  2018/19 10

Audit logistics, team & fees

Audit fees

The planned audit fees are £39,447 (PY: £51,230) for the financial statements audit completed 
under the Code, which are inline with the scale fee published by PSAA. There is no non-Code (as 
defined by PSAA) work planned. In setting your fee, we have assumed that the scope of the audit 
and your activities, do not significantly change.

Our requirements

To ensure the audit is delivered on time and to avoid any additional fees, you must ensure that:

 all audit queries in our interim and final work are responded to in a timely manner and all 
required samples provided to enable completion of the interim audit prior to the end of March.

 the draft accounts are provided to us by 31 May and are fully accurate with minimal errors. 
Supporting schedules to all figures in the accounts and other working papers are provided to 
us by 31 May and in accordance with the agreed upon information request list. This must 
include all notes, the narrative report and AGS.

 the agreed data reports are available to us at the start of the audit and are reconciled to the 
values in the accounts, in order to facilitate our selection of samples. All supporting schedules 
are clearly presented and agree to figures in the accounts.

 key management and accounting staff identified in our information request list are available 
throughout the duration of our audit visits to help us locate information and to provide 
explanations.

 all audit queries are resolved promptly and fully and within agreed timescales.

If any of the above requirements are not met, we reserve the right to postpone our audit visit and 
charge fees to reimburse us for any additional costs incurred.

Elizabeth Jackson, Engagement Lead

Liz will be the main point of contact for the Chief 
Executive, Director of Finance, Policy and Development 
(s151 Officer) and Committee members. She will share 
her wealth of knowledge and experience across the 
sector providing challenge and sharing good practice. Liz 
will ensure our audit is tailored specifically to you, and will 
be responsible for the overall quality of our audit work. Liz 
will sign your audit opinion.

Ade Oyerinde, Senior Manager

Ade will work with the senior members of the finance 
team ensuring early delivery of testing and agreement 
of accounting issues on a timely basis. Ade will attend 
Audit and Governance Committees, undertake reviews 
of the team’s work and draft reports, ensuring they 
remain clear, concise and understandable. Ade will be 
responsible for the delivery of our work on your 
arrangements in place to secure value for money.

Hazel Strudwick, InCharge Auditor

Hazel will lead the onsite team and will be the day to 
day contact for the audit. She will monitor the 
deliverables, manage the query log with your finance 
team and highlight any significant issues and 
adjustments to senior management. Hazel will 
undertake the more technical aspects of the audit, 
coach the junior members of the team and review the 
team’s work.

Planning and
risk assessment 

Interim audit
Feb 2019

Year end audit
June 2019

Audit and
Governance
Committee
2 April 2019

Audit and
Governance
Committee
2 July 2019

Audit and
Governance
Committee

10 Sept 2019

Audit 
Findings 
Report

Audit 
opinionAudit Plan 

Report

Annual 
Audit 
Letter

Oct – Dec 2018

P
age 88

A
ppendix A



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Tunbridge Wells Borough  Council |  2018/19 11

Independence & non-audit services
Auditor independence

Ethical Standards and ISA (UK) 260 require us to give you timely disclosure of all significant facts and matters that may bear upon the integrity, objectivity and independence of the firm 
or covered persons relating to our independence. We encourage you to contact us to discuss these or any other independence issues with us.  We will also discuss with you if we make 
additional significant judgements surrounding independence matters. We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our independence as auditors that we are 
required or wish to draw to your attention. We have complied with the Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered person, confirm that we are 
independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements. We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the requirements of the 
Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered person, confirm that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial 
statements. Further, we have complied with the requirements of the National Audit Office’s Auditor Guidance Note 01 issued in December 2017 and PSAA’s Terms of Appointment which 
set out supplementary guidance on ethical requirements for auditors of local public bodies. 

Other services provided by Grant Thornton

For the purposes of our audit we have made enquiries of all Grant Thornton UK LLP teams providing services to the Council. The following service was identified:

The amounts detailed are fees agreed to-date for audit related and non-audit services to be undertaken by Grant Thornton UK LLP in the current financial year. These services are 
consistent with your policy on the allotment of non-audit work to your auditors. All services have been approved by the Audit and Governance Committee and Audit and Governance 
Committee Advisory Committee except the certification claims for which cannot commence until we receive your approval. Any changes and full details of all fees charged for audit 
related and non-audit related services by Grant Thornton UK LLP and by Grant Thornton International Limited network member Firms will be included in our Audit Findings report at the 
conclusion of the audit.
None of the services provided are subject to contingent fees. 

Service £ Threats Safeguards

Audit related

Certification of Housing 
Benefit Subsidy claim

16,500 Self-Interest (because 
this is a recurring fee)

The terms of engagements are being agreed. The level of the fee is not considered a significant threat to 
independence in comparison to the total fee for the audit of £39,447 and in particular relative to Grant Thornton 
UK LLP’s turnover overall. Further, it is a fixed fee and there is no contingent element to it. These factors all 
mitigate the perceived self-interest threat to an acceptable level.

Non-audit related

None 

P
age 89

A
ppendix A



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Tunbridge Wells Borough  Council |  2018/19

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 
firms, as the context requires.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 
separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 90

A
ppendix A



 
 

 

 
 
Lee Colyer 
Director of Finance, Policy and Development 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Town Hall 
Royal Tunbridge Wells 
Kent  
TN1 1RS 
 

21 February 2019 

Dear Lee 

Certification work for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council for year ended 31 March 2018 

We are required to certify the Housing Benefit subsidy claim submitted by Tunbridge Wells Borough 
Council ('the Council'). This certification typically takes place six to nine months after the claim period 
and represents a final but important part of the process to confirm the Council's entitlement to 
funding. 

The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 gave the Secretary of State power to transfer Audit 
Commission responsibilities to other bodies. Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) took on the 
transitional responsibilities for HB COUNT issued by the Audit Commission in February 2015. 

We have certified the Housing Benefit subsidy claim for the financial year 2017/18 relating to subsidy 
claimed of £33.7 million. Further details are set out in Appendix A. 

We highlight four issues arising from our certification work for your attention. Additional sample 
testing was completed in these areas, including some areas identified for the first time in 2017-18 in 
compliance with DWP’s methodology. These issues are covered in further detail within Appendix A.  

The Council took on the completion of the additional work this year to minimise the cost of additional 
audit fees. However, when we received the completed work from the Council towards the end of 
November, we determined that the evidencing and documentation of the work was not sufficient to 
meet the DWP requirements. Consequently, some of the work had to be re-performed. This re-
performance meant the DWP deadline of 30 November was not achieved.  

As a result of the errors identified, the claim was amended and qualified, and we reported our findings 
to the DWP in a Qualification Letter dated 14 December 2018. The certified, amended claim was 
relatively insignificant to the total subsidy receivable in 2017-18. 

All these areas will require additional testing in 2018-19 to determine whether the issues have been 
sufficiently resolved.  

On 28 December 2018, the DWP required the Council to undertake further work in respect of one 
claim reported in our Qualification Letter where we were unable to determine if subsidy had been 
correctly awarded. We reported our findings to the DWP on 15 February 2019. The additional work 
did not result in an amendment to the claim certified on 14 December 2018. 

The indicative fee for 2017/18 for the Council was based on the final 2015/16 certification fees, 
reflecting the amount of work required by the auditor to certify the Housing Benefit subsidy claim that 

Grant Thornton UK LLP 
30 Finsbury Square 
LONDON 
EC2A 1AG 
 

T +44 (0)20 7383 5100 
 
www.grant-thornton.co.uk 

 

Page 91

Appendix B



 2 

year. The indicative scale fee set by PSAA for the Council for 2017/18 was £12,144. Due to the 
additional work required to address the issues we identified, we have agreed an additional fee of 
£10,000, subject to confirmation from PSAA. This is set out in more detail in Appendix B. 

Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
Grant Thornton UK LLP  

Page 92

Appendix B



 3 

Appendix A - Details of claims and returns certified for 2017/18 

Claim  Draft 
claim 

Final claim Amended? Amendment 
value 

Qualified?  
 

Comments 

Housing 
Benefits 
Subsidy 
Claim 

£33,654,334 £33,653,687  Yes (£647) Yes See below for detailed comments 
on the issues identified in this 
year’s Claim Form.  

 

Findings from certification of housing benefits subsidy claim 
 
Insufficient supporting information 
Our testing in the prior year identified that the Council was unable to locate the evidence used for the 
child tax credit and working tax credit amounts used in the calculation of HB entitlement during 
2016/17, generating an underpayment. One error from this year’s testing of the initial 20 cases was 
identified with no impact on subsidy.  
Testing of the additional 40+ sample identified no further errors of this type. The identification of this 
error means testing will be needed on this cell in 2018/19. 
 
Incorrect Calculation of Earnings (Earned Income and Self Employed Earnings)  
Our testing in the prior year identified that the Council had applied the incorrect earned income and 
self employed earnings to periods of benefit in payment which resulted in an underpayment of benefit. 
This year’s initial discovery testing did not reveal any errors.  This area was brought forward as part of 
our CAKE testing.  
Testing of 100 per cent of earned income and self employed earnings identified no further errors of 
this type. 
 
Incorrect Calculation of Earnings (Earned Income and Self Employed Earnings) 
Our testing in the prior year identified that the Council had applied the incorrect earned income to 
periods of benefit in payment which resulted in an underpayment of benefit.  This year’s initial 
discovery testing identified the following errors: 

• 1 case (total value £1,565) where the incorrect calculation of earnings resulted in an 
overpayment of benefit (error value £247) 

• 2 cases where the incorrect calculation of earnings resulted in an underpayment of benefit 

• 1 case where inconsistent treatment in the calculation of earnings does not allow me to 
determine if subsidy had been correctly awarded. This has not been included in the table 
below. 

 
Testing of the additional 40+ sample from a sub population of earned income identified similar errors 
where earned income was incorrectly applied. The result of our testing is as follows: 

• 3 cases (total value £16,128) where the incorrect calculation of earnings resulted in an 
overpayment of benefit (error value £12) 

• 3 cases where the incorrect calculation of earnings resulted in an underpayment of benefit. 
 
The extrapolated impact of these overpayments errors on the affected cell is £12,438, and as above 
means we will have to undertake specific testing on this area in 2018/19. (Note: in line with DWP 
guidance, underpayments of subsidy are not classified as an error for subsidy purposes). 
 
On 28 December 2018, the DWP required the Council to undertake further work in respect of one 
claim where we were unable to determine if subsidy had been correctly awarded. Benefit assessors 
revisited the claim and concluded an error had been made in the calculation of earnings resulting in an 
overpayment of benefit. We reviewed the evidence provided and reported the facts to DWP on 14 
February 2019. (As noted above, underpayments of subsidy are not classified as an error for subsidy 
purposes). 

Page 93

Appendix B



 4 

Over / under paid benefit – Applicable rent  
Our initial testing identified an error where the Council had applied the incorrect applicable rent to 
periods of benefit in payment which resulted in an underpayment of benefit for the periods in 
payment. Testing a further sample of 40 affected cases identified the following: 
 

• 2 cases (total value £9,412) where the incorrect applicable rent amount resulted in an 
overpayment of benefit (error value £70), and 

• 1 case where the incorrect applicable rent amount resulted in an underpayment of benefit.  
 
The extrapolated impact of these overpayments errors on the affected cell is £7,809, and as above 
means we will have to undertake specific testing on this area in 2018/19. (As noted above, 
underpayments of subsidy are not classified as an error for subsidy purposes). 
 
 
 
  

Page 94

Appendix B



 5 

B: Fees for 2017/18 certification work 
 

Claim or return 2017/18 
indicative 
fee (£) 

2017/18 
actual fee 
(£) 

Variance 
(£) 

Explanation for variances 

Housing benefits 
subsidy claim 
(BEN01) 

£12,144 £22,144 £10,000 As mentioned on Page 1, the additional fee 
agreed with officers is subject to confirmation 
from PSAA.   

  

Page 95

Appendix B



This page is intentionally left blank



AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE WORK PROGRAMME 2018/19 

 

REPORT TITLE 11/9/18 27/11/18 2/4/19 22 May 
2019 

17 July 
2019 

Audit and Governance 
Committee Annual Report 
 

    X 

Annual Internal Audit  
Report and Opinion 
 

    X 

Internal Audit and 
Assurance Plan 
 

  X   

Internal Audit Interim 
Report  
 

 X    

Annual Audit Letter 
(presented to Committee 
following receipt) 
 

     

External Audit Plan 
(including Audit Fee) 
 

  X   

External Audit Progress 
Report 

 X    

Financial Report and 
Audit Findings 2018/19 
 

    X 

Annual Complaints Report 
and Local Government 
Ombudsman Annual 
Review 

X     

Update on Member 
Complaints 
 

X X X  X 

Strategic Risk Review 
(incorporating Annual Risk 
Management Summary in 
July) 

X X X  X 

Attendance of Strategic 
Risk Owners 
 

X 
Stephen 
Baughen  

X 
 David Candlin 

X 
(i) Paul Taylor 
(ii) Denise Haylett 
(iii) Chris Woodward 

  

Appointment of members 
to Constitution Review 
Working Party 
 

   X  

Changes made to the 
Constitution, made under 
delegated authority 
 

 X    

Amendments to the 
Constitution 

  X 
 

  

Briefings/member 
development (to be arranged 

where appropriate) 

     

Page 97

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee dated 27 November 2018
	5 Strategic Risk Review
	Appendix A Strategic Risks March 2019

	6 Update on Complaints Received under the Members' Code of Conduct
	7 Review of the Constitution April 2019*
	Review of the Constitution April 2019 Appendix A
	Review of the Constitution April 2019 Appendix B
	Review of the Constitution April 2019 Appendix C

	8 Internal Audit & Assurance Plan 2019/20
	Internal Audit & Assurance Plan 2019_20 Appendix A

	9 External Audit Plan
	Appendix A
	Appendix B

	10 Future Work Programme

